          1

          2  CITY COUNCIL

          3

             CITY OF NEW YORK

          4

             -------------------------------x

          5

             THE TRANSCRIPT OF THE MINUTES

          6

                       of the

          7

             COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          8

             -------------------------------x

          9

         10                 June 20, 2001

                            Start:  10:15 a.m.

         11                 Recess: 12:15 p.m.

         12                 City Hall

                            Council Chambers

         13                 New York, New York

         14

                  B E F O R E:

         15

                         VICTOR ROBLES

         16                                Chairperson,

         17

                         COUNCIL MEMBERS:   Morton Povman

         18                                 Una Clarke

                                            Philip Reed

         19                                 Pedro Espada

                                            Christine Quinn

         20                                 James Oddo

                                            Eva Moskowitz

         21

         22

         23

         24       LEGAL-EASE COURT REPORTING SERVICES, INC.

                         217 Broadway -  Suite 511

         25              New York, New York 10007

                              (800) 756-3410

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            2

          1

          2  A P P E A R A N C E S

          3

             Van H. Dunn, MD., MPH

          4  Senior Vice President

             Medical and Professional Affairs

          5  NYC Health and Hospitals Corporation

          6  Laray Brown

             Senior Vice President

          7  Intergovernmental and Community Affairs

             NYC Health and Hospitals Corporation

          8

             Dr. Robert Schmidt

          9  Associate Professor of Radiology

             NYU Medical Center

         10

             Susan Stuard

         11  Director, Regulatory Affairs

             Greater New York Hospital Association

         12

             Doris Varlese

         13  General Counsel

             Greater New York Hospital Association

         14

             Eva Sciandra

         15  American Cancer Society

         16  Agnes Oquendo

         17  Frank Vernuccio

             Office of the Bronx Borough President

         18  Fernando Ferrer

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            3

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: The Committee on

          3  Health is now in session. Good morning. I am Council

          4  Member Victor Robles. I am privileged to chair the

          5  Committee on Health.

          6                 I apologize, we, as you know, the

          7  State Legislature, especially the Senate, is

          8  supposed to adjourn tomorrow, so we have been on

          9  standby and we had our session on Monday, today we

         10  have a session after this hearing. So, I apologize,

         11  those who will be testifying and those who are just

         12  here to listen, I apologize, we need to go into

         13  session after this hearing.

         14                 I welcome you to the Committee's

         15  oversight hearing on the availability of mammography

         16  services in New York City hospitals, including

         17  Health and Hospitals Corporation and voluntary

         18  hospitals.

         19                 This hearing is in response to

         20  resolution No. 1724, introduced by myself and

         21  Council Member Jim Oddo, which calls on the

         22  Committee to hold such a hearing.

         23                 As we all know, early detection of

         24  cancer increases a patient's chances of survival.

         25  Mammograms provide an effective tool in the early
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          2  detection of breast cancer. However, it has recently

          3  been reported that women around the City have been

          4  waiting months to receive prescribed mammograms,

          5  even if they have some evidence of breast disease,

          6  such as a lump. These women are therefore at higher

          7  risk of dying from breast cancer, even when there

          8  were good chances that they could have received

          9  treatment that would have saved their lives.

         10                 I want to stress at the outset of

         11  this hearing that the shortage of mammography

         12  services is not a problem that is centered only in

         13  our Health and Hospitals Corporation hospitals.

         14  Indeed, New York University Medical Center and other

         15  hospitals are reported to have long waiting periods

         16  for mammograms, underscoring the fact that this is

         17  system-wide crisis.

         18                 The goal of this hearing is to

         19  uncover some of the reasons why a shortage of

         20  mammogram services exists in this City.

         21                 Testimony taken here today will help

         22  the Council to determine what it can do to help

         23  solve the problem. I would like to note that the

         24  Council has been extremely active in funding cancer

         25  programs. Since 1990 the Council has provided $5.4
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          2  million in cumulative restoration and enhancements

          3  for cancer programs. This funding was used for

          4  outreach, research, screening education for ovarian,

          5  prostate and breast cancer. More specifically on

          6  breast cancer, the Council allocated $1 million

          7  directly to Health and Hospitals Corporation for

          8  breast cancer outreach and services in 1999.

          9  Although this current administration proposed to

         10  eliminate these funds, the Council subsequently

         11  restored them and funds were baselined.

         12                 Here to testify before the committee

         13  is Dr. Van Dunn, Senior Vice President of Medical

         14  and Professional Affairs at the Health and Hospitals

         15  Corporation, the Greater New York Hospital

         16  Association, and the American Cancer Society.

         17                 Before we begin, I would like to call

         18  on my colleague Council Member Oddo, who originally

         19  came to me on this issue, since some of his

         20  constituents in the Borough of Staten Island that he

         21  represents came to him, and it is because of him

         22  bringing this to my attention before the articles

         23  and I guess after the articles, that I urge them to

         24  join me in this resolution.

         25                 And, so, for the purpose of remarks
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          2  that he would like to make on this subject, I call

          3  upon Council Member Jim Oddo, and I want to thank

          4  him for, again, as a member of this Committee and

          5  the ranking minority member, always bringing health

          6  issues to my attention, and particularly when I am

          7  distracted by budget hearings and budget concerns,

          8  that members of this Committee do take the time to

          9  bring to my attention subject matters related to

         10  health that I think are important.

         11                 So, having said that, again, I want

         12  to thank him for working with my staff on the draft

         13  of this resolution, and I call upon Council Member

         14  Jim Oddo from Staten Island.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you, Mr.

         16  Chairman. Let me just begin by thanking you, of

         17  course, and the Speaker for granting this hearing

         18  and making this a priority.

         19                 Very rarely do I have written

         20  remarks, but on this occasion I wanted to

         21  specifically articulate some thoughts and I have it

         22  written down and I ask that you folks bear with me a

         23  bit.

         24                 There is a famous French composer who

         25  once said that time is a great teacher but
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          2  unfortunately it kills all its pupils, and at no

          3  time do these words resonate more clearly than the

          4  day when women across the City, and amazingly

          5  throughout our nation, find themselves in the midst

          6  of a public health crisis.

          7                 What I am speaking of is the genesis

          8  of this hearing, the reports of women waiting months

          9  for crucial breast cancer screenings that can mean

         10  the difference between their life and death, the

         11  difference between a tumor being detected in its

         12  initial stages, and finding that tumor at a far

         13  later and less treatable stage.

         14                 For some breast cancer becomes a

         15  heightened issue once a year in October when we don

         16  pink ribbons and race for a cure. For others, breast

         17  cancer is about waking up every day and looking in

         18  the mirror at a reflection that has perhaps been

         19  ravaged by radiation or more dramatically been

         20  marred by a mastectomy.

         21                 This body has demonstrated its

         22  commitment to providing life-saving education,

         23  screening and follow-up services to women in need by

         24  allocating funding that has ultimately led to early

         25  detection of breast cancer and assisted in saving
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          2  lives.

          3                 Today's hearing, and moreover, the

          4  proven leadership of my colleague, the Chairman

          5  Victor Robles, as well as the sponsorship of reso

          6  1724 by more than 30 of our colleagues is simply a

          7  natural extension of our commitment as we seek to

          8  address the reported backlog in mammography services

          9  to women in need.

         10                 The numbers are startling. An

         11  estimated 3 million women in this country are living

         12  with breast cancer, 2 million women who have been

         13  diagnosed with the disease, and 1 million who do not

         14  yet know that they have the disease.

         15                 One out of every nine women will

         16  develop breast cancer in her lifetime, one out of 28

         17  will die from it. Every three minutes a woman is

         18  diagnosed with breast cancer, and every 12 minutes a

         19  woman will die from breast cancer. It is estimated

         20  that one out of every five breast cancer deaths

         21  could have been prevented had patients received

         22  regular mammograms.

         23                 Yet, nearly half of the women seeking

         24  access to life-saving care could be denied that

         25  access because of a myriad of problems from a lack
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          2  of adequate reimbursement from insurers to a

          3  shortage of qualified radiologists.

          4                 Years ago the battle cry was that

          5  women were not aware of the importance of breast

          6  care and the necessity of receiving frequent

          7  mammograms. Today a generation of baby-boomers,

          8  women over 40 are acutely informed about breast

          9  cancer health at a time and desire services and

         10  those services are remote.

         11                 When we contemplate what a

         12  considerable waiting period is for a woman who may

         13  have a family history of breast cancer, who may have

         14  previously been diagnosed with breast cancer, who

         15  may have detected a lump on her own, was advised by

         16  her doctor to arrange for a mammography appointment,

         17  I ask you to consider some of the compelling and

         18  frightening accounts of women who have contacted my

         19  office.

         20                 There is Crystal Pakowski, age 49,

         21  who just last week was advised by a doctor to get an

         22  appointment for a mammogram. The soonest available

         23  appointment is not next week, next month, two months

         24  from now or even in calendar year 2001, but rather

         25  January 28th, 2002.
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          2                 Mr. Chairman, on June 11th, a woman

          3  on Staten Island went to go get an appointment for a

          4  mammogram and she was told the soonest appointment

          5  would be January 28th, 2002. When you think about

          6  that, in the City of New York in the Year 2001, to

          7  tell a woman she has got to wait six months for a

          8  mammogram, it is absolutely appalling.

          9                 Ms. Pakowski knows all too well about

         10  the waiting game. Ten years ago a friend of hers at

         11  age 34 found a lump in her breast. She was given an

         12  appointment two months later and told that at her

         13  age she probably had nothing to worry about. She

         14  died at age 37 of breast cancer. She was given a

         15  waiting period of only two months. Women today are

         16  being asked to wait anywhere from six to eight

         17  months.

         18                 More egregious is the ordeal of Ms.

         19  Agnes Oquendo, who I believe is in the audience

         20  today, age 45. She was informed that she would have

         21  to wait four months for a mammography appointment.

         22                 After calling various mammography

         23  centers, she came to the realization that four

         24  months seemed to be the average waiting period.

         25                 Ms. Oquendo ended up having a
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          2  vasectomy before her original mammography

          3  appointment. The question is what if Mrs. Oquendo

          4  decided to wait for that appointment?

          5                 If I may get parochial, Mr. Chairman,

          6  with respect to HHC, as you know, Staten Island is

          7  the only borough that doesn't have an acute care

          8  facility, and my concern and one of the answers that

          9  I hope to get today is does that mean that Staten

         10  Island women are receiving less mammography services

         11  than individuals across the City, and I am grateful

         12  for HHC being here to talk about backlogs, backlogs

         13  in their own system, backlogs in the private sector

         14  and how HHC can step up and hopefully fill in that

         15  backlog.

         16                 If we unearth today during the course

         17  of this hearing that women are experiencing delays

         18  at private radiology centers, and, yet, there is no

         19  backlog at HHC, then we must call upon HHC to fill

         20  these gaps. If we learn that qualified radiologists

         21  are lacking in that they are choosing more lucrative

         22  fields of medicine, then incentives must be offered

         23  so their training and expertise are better spent in

         24  a field that is contributed to improvements in

         25  breast cancer survival rate.
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          2                 If we find that adequate

          3  reimbursement from insurers have contributed to a

          4  backlog in mammography services, then we as a body

          5  should join our colleague Christine Quinn in

          6  prompting Congress to increase Medicare

          7  reimbursements for mammograms.

          8                 Whatever the outcome, we, as the

          9  members of the Health Committee of the Council, who

         10  have been at the forefront of bringing issues, like

         11  sudden infant death syndrome and high mortality

         12  rates linked to ovarian cancer to the table, must

         13  once again act in a capacity to aid women of the

         14  City to cease the delays in obtaining timely

         15  mammography appointments.

         16                 Mr. Chairman, I will just close with

         17  one last very, very personal comment. One of the

         18  reasons why I hold you in such high esteem is that

         19  from time to time you look up to the skies and you

         20  talk about your late mom and the love you had for

         21  her and the things that she did for you. I have a

         22  mom who has done an incredible job with my family,

         23  and on Saturday the local daily newspaper ran a

         24  story about this hearing, and later on on Saturday I

         25  went back to my parents' house and my mom informed
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          2  us that she went for a mammography with my aunt and

          3  my cousin and she was the only one to receive a

          4  letter saying that potentially there is something

          5  wrong and that she has to come back. The letter was

          6  a generic letter, it didn't have an appointment, and

          7  I can tell you on a very personal level it has my

          8  whole family in a frenzy it is absolutely

          9  disgraceful that families across the City and across

         10  this country have to endure that, and I want to

         11  thank you and thank the Speaker on a very personal

         12  level for using this Council as a bully-pulpit,

         13  perhaps this is out of our purview legislatively,

         14  but the fact that those cameras are here, Mr.

         15  Chairman, is a complement to you and the Speaker,

         16  using this Council in a way to get the message out

         17  maybe to compel our colleagues on the federal level

         18  to do something and to find out if there are some

         19  answers perhaps on a City level, and I want to thank

         20  you for that.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you, my

         22  colleague.

         23                 Let me just say that perhaps

         24  legislatively we cannot, but however, we still have

         25  a responsibility as a committee, and I do know that
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          2  I try to work as close as I can with the Health and

          3  Hospitals Corporation. You raised some questions

          4  that I will be asking of HHC. I agree with you that

          5  Staten Island is part of the City of New York, and

          6  while there may not be an acute care facility in

          7  Staten Island, that is no reason why we cannot work

          8  towards having the kinds of services in Staten

          9  Island, where women of Staten Island need not to

         10  leave the island to get those services, but when HHC

         11  comes, perhaps they would inform us exactly what is

         12  it that they have in Staten Island.

         13                 Let me say before I begin. As a

         14  matter of fact, while they are walking up, let's

         15  call upon the Health and Hospitals Corporation. Let

         16  me introduce my colleagues who have joined, members

         17  of the Committee, Council Member Morty Povman from

         18  Queens, Council Member Eva Moskowitz from Manhattan,

         19  and of course, like I said, the ranking minority

         20  member of this Committee, Council Member Jim Oddo

         21  from Staten Island.

         22                 Dr. Van Dunn, welcome. Laray Brown,

         23  welcome. Both senior vice presidents. Why don't you

         24  just identify yourself for the record and your

         25  titles and then I believe you have a prepared
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          2  statement, sir, and please proceed with your

          3  statement.

          4                 DR. VAN DUNN: Yes, good morning. My

          5  name is Van Dunn, I am the Senior Vice President for

          6  Medical and Professional Affairs at New York City

          7  Health and Hospitals Corporation.

          8                 To my right is Laray Brown, who is

          9  the Senior Vice President for Intergovernmental and

         10  Community Affairs.

         11                 It's a pleasure to be here for the

         12  Council to report on our activities around

         13  mammography services.

         14                 Breast cancer is one of the most

         15  common types of cancers in women. Mammography is the

         16  most effective method for early detection of breast

         17  cancer.

         18                 Early detection of breast cancer is

         19  important for African-American women because they

         20  have the highest mortality and the lowest survival

         21  rates for breast cancer. Hispanic women, because

         22  breast cancer incidence rates are increasing faster

         23  among Hispanics than other women.

         24

         25  American Indians and Alaskan Native women, because
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          2  they have the higher breast cancer and lower

          3  survival rates than any of the other groups of

          4  women. Asian and Pacific Islander women because some

          5  of the studies suggest their cancer rates increase

          6  as they become aculturated.

          7                 Older women, because as women age,

          8  their chances of getting breast cancer increase.

          9                 We encourage routine mammogram

         10  screening for women in their age 40 and older. We

         11  also encourage screening of women at any age who are

         12  high risk for breast cancer. We emphasize the

         13  importance of routine screenings for early detection

         14  of breast cancer every year.  Once is not enough,

         15  and we don't believe it should be done every two

         16  years, we believe it should be done every year.

         17                 We emphasize that early detection of

         18  breast cancer can increase women's option for

         19  treatment and increase survival rates.

         20                 We have developed breast cancer

         21  mammography outreach and education efforts to the

         22  minority and underserved communities that address

         23  barriers to getting mammograms.

         24                 We provide access to the latest

         25  information on risk for breast cancer screening,
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          2  diagnosis treatment and follow-up care.

          3                 We provide underserved women

          4  information about low-cost and/or free mammography

          5  screening programs provided by HHC, and also

          6  sponsored by the Centers for Disease Control and

          7  Prevention, Breast and Cervical Cancer Early

          8  Detection Program.

          9                 As part of HHC's efforts to keep

         10  women healthy, the Corporation expects that women

         11  aged 40 to 69 who receive primary care and HHC

         12  facilities get a yearly screening mammogram.

         13                 The evidence of the Corporation's

         14  physician and nurses' commitments to provide the

         15  best quality care for our patients in reducing the

         16  morbidity and mortality from breast cancer is shown

         17  on the following figures, that represent our success

         18  between 1999 and 2000, as compared to the National

         19  Committee for Quality Assurance Committee Averages.

         20                 NCQA maintains a health report card

         21  for health plans nationally, and one of the things

         22  they look closely at, as women getting mammography.

         23                 In Year 2000, 92 percent of eligible

         24  women had a mammogram compared to calendar year '99

         25  in which we reached a rate of 87 percent. The
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          2  current level of mammography screening is well above

          3  NCQA average of 73 for their participating plans,

          4  and well above our own corporate goal of 80 percent.

          5                 The number of women who received

          6  mammography screening at HHC in Fiscal Year 2000 was

          7  70,972, compared to 70,934 in Fiscal Year 1999.

          8                 With respect to timely access of

          9  mammograms, the Corporation's average waiting time

         10  is four days. The Corporation monitors mammography

         11  waiting times on a quarterly basis, and if any

         12  facility waiting time exceeds the corporate standard

         13  of eight days, the facility is expected to implement

         14  an immediate plan to reduce the waiting time.

         15                 I will conclude now by describing one

         16  of our very successful educational outreach

         17  programs.

         18                 The Corporation began a

         19  Corporate-wide Mother's Day Mammogram Campaign in

         20  1997. The Campaign provides free screening

         21  mammography, health education and breast exams for

         22  women over the age of 40 and/or at high risk for

         23  breast cancer.

         24                 In 1997, 846 women were registered,

         25  of that 614 were provided a mammogram. In 1999,
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          2  2,826 women were registered, 2,112 of these provided

          3  a mammogram. In 2000, 5,810 women registered, of

          4  which 3,598 were provided mammograms.

          5                 This Campaign has been very

          6  successful in reaching out to the community as

          7  evidenced by 105 percent increase in a number of

          8  women registered from 1999 to 2000.

          9                 HHC's Mother's Day Mammogram Campaign

         10  is held every May for the entire month.

         11                 Thank you for allowing me to address

         12  you this morning, and I look forward to any

         13  questions you may have.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you, Dr.

         15  Van Dunn. I thought I saw Council Member Chris

         16  Quinn, I am sure she must be here. There is another

         17  meeting going on, but she may be back and forth.

         18                 Let me begin by asking some questions

         19  generally and then open up to my colleagues and then

         20  come back. Let me bring you to -- first of all, in

         21  your testimony on page five you said with respect to

         22  timely access of mammograms in HHC facilities, the

         23  average waiting time is four days. And then you go

         24  on to say that the Corporation monitors this, and

         25  that the waiting time on a quarterly basis, and if
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          2  any facility waiting times exceed the Corporation's

          3  standard of eight days, the facility is expected to

          4  implement an immediate plan to reduce the waiting

          5  time.

          6                 This four days, is that the normal

          7  turn around when someone goes in to get these

          8  services?

          9                 DR. VAN DUNN: What we offer at our

         10  facilities is, we try to make it convenient for

         11  women. At most of our facilities we allow patients

         12  to walk in for mammograms if they don't need an

         13  appointment. So, for example, if you go to Harlem

         14  Hospital, they have a policy that you can walk in at

         15  any time during the operating day and get a

         16  mammogram. And if you can't come in that day, then

         17  they will schedule you an appointment that is

         18  convenient for you.

         19                 We have set the goal for the

         20  Corporation that no woman should wait longer than

         21  eight days for a mammogram, and that's for a

         22  screening mammogram.

         23                 We also have made it a requirement

         24  that any woman who needs a diagnostic mammogram,

         25  where the initial mammogram is abnormal, or a lump
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          2  is found in their breast, that they receive a

          3  mammogram immediately, or any diagnostic test that

          4  they need to have.

          5                 So, what we did is we looked at what

          6  we felt was an appropriate waiting time for women to

          7  get a mammogram, and we decided eight days was a

          8  long enough wait.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: However, based

         10  upon your monitoring has any -- let me start again.

         11                 Does every acute care facility within

         12  your system and your other in the networks, does

         13  every network have those services within their

         14  networks?

         15                 DR. DUNN: Yes, they do.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And you will find

         17  them in the acute care facility, and you will find

         18  them in clinics?

         19                 DR. DUNN: We have them in all of our

         20  acute care facilities, which are 11, and we have

         21  them in five out of the six diagnostic and treatment

         22  centers. The only diagnostic and treatment centers

         23  that we do not offer a mammography services is in

         24  the renaissance health network.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Now, sticking to
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          2  all the acute care, which 11, plus you said

          3  diagnostic treatment centers, which, correct me if I

          4  am wrong, you will find in each of the network at

          5  least one diagnostic treatment center?

          6                 DR. DUNN: No. There is no diagnostic

          7  and treatment center in Queens or the Bronx.

          8                 MS. BROWN: North Bronx.

          9                 DR. DUNN: North Bronx.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay, now, let me

         11  go back.

         12                 In the Queens, where you do not have

         13  a diagnostic and treatment center, but you do have

         14  two major acute care facilities, you have Elmhurst,

         15  correct?

         16                 DR. DUNN: Yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And you have

         18  Queens?

         19                 DR. DUNN: Yes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Anywhere else

         21  besides those two facilities?

         22                 DR. DUNN: In Queens, no.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

         24                 But those two facilities covers for

         25  the most part the Borough of Queens?
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          2                 DR. DUNN: Yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

          4                 And you said in the Bronx, where in

          5  the Bronx?

          6                 DR. DUNN: In the Bronx we have three

          7  acute care facilities, Lincoln, Jacobi, and North

          8  Central Bronx --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Right.

         10                 DR. DUNN: And we also have services

         11  available at Morrisania Diagnostic and Treatment

         12  Center, and Belvis Diagnostic and Treatment Center.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

         14                 Now, let's move on to the County of

         15  Richmond, the Borough of Staten Island. What do you

         16  have, since you don't have an acute care facility,

         17  you do not, I believe, have a diagnostic and

         18  treatment center there, I believe the only thing you

         19  have in Staten Island is a rehab --

         20                 DR. DUNN: We have Seaview.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Seaview.

         22                 Okay, what do you have in Staten

         23  Island, i.e., these services?

         24                 DR. DUNN: We do not have mammography

         25  services in Staten Island.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: What other plans

          3  in at least bringing into Staten Island as part of

          4  the corporation those services, even if it needs to

          5  be put into Seaview?

          6                 MS. BROWN: At the present time, HHC,

          7  as you said, does not have any acute care or

          8  diagnostic and treatment centers in the borough, we,

          9  however, also do not currently have the financial

         10  resources to assume responsibility for mammography

         11  services within the borough. But as you also know,

         12  we have a network that is comprised of Brooklyn and

         13  Staten Island, and in that network there is Kings

         14  County Hospital Center, and that hospital center has

         15  an extensive cancer tier service. It is unfortunate

         16  that we don't have the services in the borough, but,

         17  again, we never had these services in the borough,

         18  and do not have the financial resources to establish

         19  an acute care hospital on Staten Island. There are,

         20  however, voluntary hospitals on Staten Island.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Laray, stop for a

         22  second. I don't want to hear about voluntary

         23  hospitals. I mean, at the Committee I oversee HHC,

         24  let's start again.

         25                 And I understand there is a -- you
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          2  know, in this budget we try to help HHC, if we, we,

          3  wanted to put those services at Seaview, since you

          4  do have a facility, why don't you talk to me about

          5  what it will cost and let's see how we work towards

          6  providing a service for Staten Island. With all due

          7  respect, and I am from Brooklyn, but if I lived in

          8  Staten Island and I was a woman, I have to schlub

          9  (phonetic) up from Staten Island to Kings County,

         10  come on.

         11                 MS. BROWN: That was not what I was

         12  suggesting.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I understand

         14  that. And what I am leading to, folks, I am not your

         15  enemy. Do we recognize that this issue is very

         16  important to women?

         17                 MS. BROWN: I am a woman, I am over

         18  40. I recognize personally that this is extremely

         19  important to women.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And is it fair to

         21  say that in terms of the issue, even in the public

         22  sector and in the private sector, this is one area

         23  that the numbers are not decreasing, but rather

         24  because for many reasons, among them, for example,

         25  and I will get to it later on, or if not and my
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          2  colleagues bring it up, I will bring it back, there

          3  is a monetary factor which as I have been reading, I

          4  understand for example, and in fairness, so you will

          5  know that I do do my homework, in New York City the

          6  average mammogram cost is anywhere between $120 to

          7  $140, while the reimbursement rate has remained

          8  below $70, so I understand there is a financial

          9  problem. But that should not keep us from providing

         10  the services. And, so, my question is, if we as a

         11  Committee, we, as a Council, maybe we couldn't do it

         12  now because we passed a budget, but there is going

         13  to be a budget mod pretty soon around November, if

         14  we recognized that in Staten Island those services

         15  are not there, and based upon the population those

         16  services should be there, I believe we can move

         17  forward in helping you.

         18                 The question is, what would it take?

         19  How much money are we talking about in order to

         20  provide those services in Staten Island, even though

         21  they will be under the Brooklyn/Staten Island

         22  network.

         23                 MS. BROWN: I would like to answer the

         24  question in two parts. First, in terms of what it

         25  would cost, we would have to get back to you in
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          2  terms of that, because you understand mammography is

          3  technology-based, but it is also personnel-based.

          4  You need to have the appropriate expertise to make

          5  sure that there are radiologists and staff who are

          6  appropriately reading the screenings and then can do

          7  the diagnostics. So, we will get back to you within

          8  the context of a number, a dollar amount.

          9                 However, with all due respect, I also

         10  think that it is extremely important that we

         11  collectively, both the public sector, HHC, and the

         12  voluntary hospital sector work together in on areas,

         13  service-related areas or in geographic areas, to

         14  ensure that women get what they need. Because I

         15  don't believe that the Council is seeking to

         16  establish a full continuum at Seaview, that would be

         17  not possible. So that if we were to enter into a

         18  program for screening, for example, or even the

         19  initial diagnostics, there would still have to be a

         20  relationship between that HHC-based program in

         21  Staten Island, with the rest of the continuum of

         22  care on Staten Island to achieve your goal, and very

         23  appropriate goal, that women who live in Staten

         24  Island get, not only the screening and

         25  identification on Staten Island, but their treatment
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          2  on Staten Island. And, so, what I was suggesting

          3  therefore, because we are part of a system of care,

          4  we can't do everything alone, that as we proceed

          5  with our discussions with you, Chairperson, and Mr.

          6  Oddo, we bring together our colleagues from Staten

          7  Island University Hospital, the other hospital on

          8  the island, to see what we could do together.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Again, I am ready

         10  to do anything. Let me just say why I am comfortable

         11  dealing with HHC, because I have the power of

         12  overseeing HHC. I don't have the power of overseeing

         13  a voluntary, that's a state function. In preparing

         14  myself for this hearing, one of the things that

         15  later on when the voluntary hospitals come here, the

         16  Greater New York Hospital Association, University

         17  Hospital, you are going to see that one of the

         18  biggest problems right now is the reimbursement.

         19                 MS. BROWN: Absolutely.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Even in Staten

         21  Island, even though you have the facility, what good

         22  is the facility if they are the ones that are

         23  closing down those services, not because they don't

         24  want to provide it, it's not the cost factors

         25  involved. And Council Member Quinn, brought to my
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          2  attention as the Chair of the Committee, I mean, one

          3  thing about my Committee members, let me tell you

          4  something, they take this Committee serious. She has

          5  a resolution and we are joining and I joined her in

          6  calling upon the federal government, but I am also

          7  calling upon the state. You know, folks, this

          8  partnership you are referring to, it takes three to

          9  tango. And right now I am telling you, based upon

         10  what I am seeing, if it is true, on the federal, and

         11  I say three, because the City of New York has a

         12  responsibility and that's why I want to deal with

         13  HHC, and correct me if I am wrong, these numbers

         14  that were given in the report, it costs 120, 140,

         15  while being reimbursed at a rate of $70 and below,

         16  that's federal money. I believe that is Medicaid.

         17                 MS. BROWN: That's Medicare.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Medicare.

         19                 But not every woman falls under that.

         20                 MS. BROWN: Absolutely. But as

         21  Medicare goes, as you so aptly have put it, so do

         22  insurance companies and Medicaid. Usually Medicare

         23  is used as a basis for reimbursement, and you are

         24  absolutely right that we need to call on the federal

         25  government to increase the rate, and HHC is in fact
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          2  very appreciative of the Council's efforts in this

          3  regard, as well as to call on the state to support

          4  these provision of these services.

          5                 As you also know, HHC will serve

          6  women in this case, without regard to the insurance

          7  and Medicare, however, the receipt of enhanced, a

          8  more appropriate Medicare rate, a more appropriate

          9  Medicaid rate, and, frankly, funding for the

         10  services for indigent women would be very, very

         11  important to Health and Hospitals Corporation, and

         12  to the other hospitals in the City as we provide

         13  these services now and as we seek to expand these

         14  services, particularly in the Borough of Staten

         15  Island.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let me point out,

         17  I want to make sure, because I don't want you to

         18  think I am singling out Staten Island, and I will

         19  tell you why I am singling out Staten Island. Let me

         20  go back to my original question. Your services as a

         21  corporation, whether it is within acute care

         22  facilities, or diagnostic treatment centers, happen

         23  to be in every borough, correct? Except Staten

         24  Island.

         25                 MS. BROWN: We don't have diagnostic
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          2  treatment centers in Queens.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: In Queens you may

          4  not have the diagnostic and treatment center, but

          5  you have two major acute care facilities.

          6                 MS. BROWN: And the people of Queens

          7  still can go within their borough to get those

          8  services.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I want to point

         10  out that the reason I am singling out Staten Island,

         11  because I agree with my colleague, you know, there

         12  was a movement, they wanted to become a City unto

         13  themselves, and then we kept saying, well, we

         14  shouldn't because one City we are all in together,

         15  so now they are part of the City and we all agree,

         16  then he is right, they are entitled not to be

         17  schlubbed out of Staten Island to Brooklyn to

         18  anywhere else, they should have those facilities, at

         19  least those services in their own borough, the

         20  coordination we will deal with later.

         21                 I just want you to understand that

         22  right now the tragedy of this is that Staten Island,

         23  one of the five boroughs, do not have immediate

         24  services in their borough, they have to leave their

         25  borough and come across the bridge, well, how else,
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          2  unless they go by ferry, and if they don't go -- are

          3  you saying to me that the Brooklyn, Staten Island

          4  Network has mobile facilities in Staten Island that

          5  provides those services?

          6                 MS. BROWN: That is not what I was

          7  saying. The reason I was shaking my head, which is

          8  not a good thing to do, but the reason that I was

          9  shaking my head was in response to your statement

         10  that women have to go out of Staten Island.

         11                 While there is not an HHC facility in

         12  Staten Island, there are hospitals in Staten Island

         13  whose mission it is to ensure that they provide

         14  mammography services, and that is the very reason --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Absolutely

         16  correct. But, unfortunately, this hearing is

         17  because, particularly in Staten Island, those

         18  hospitals cannot keep up with those services if, for

         19  no other reason, because of reimbursement.

         20                 And what is happening is, and I have

         21  to be honest with you, because I serve on the Board

         22  of Trustees of a voluntary hospital, let me tell you

         23  the difference between HHC with all of your

         24  problems, the City of New York still, when pushed,

         25  will write a check, and that's what we did in the
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          2  budget. We not only restored the cuts, but we

          3  enhanced for services.

          4                 In the voluntary sector, especially

          5  as a trustee, you don't have the means, you close

          6  down those services. And although the state law says

          7  you are not supposed to turn anybody away, come on,

          8  folks, I am getting too old to know. That's why HHC

          9  also finds itself right now in a predicament, where

         10  they cannot go to Staten Island to those hospitals

         11  because they no longer exist, they have no other

         12  choice but then to go to an HHC facility, or

         13  wherever they can get the services.

         14                 So, I am concerned with the fact that

         15  in Staten Island, we, as a government city, and I am

         16  not saying we shouldn't work with the private

         17  sector, I think we have an obligation. And, so, I

         18  would urge to work with you and my colleague, even

         19  if it is -- you know, we purchase so many of these

         20  mobile units, maybe we should do a mobile unit if

         21  nothing else to go around Staten Island, but we can

         22  discuss that.

         23                 If nothing else, my legacy is going

         24  to be Jim Oddo will always remember me if I am able

         25  to do that. How is that? Okay.
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          2                 We have been joined by members of the

          3  Committee, Council Member Phil Reed, from Manhattan

          4  and the Bronx, Council Member Pedro Espada from the

          5  Bronx, and I did mention you, but Council Member

          6  Chris Quinn from Manhattan.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Mr. Chair, if I

          8  could just -- I want to apologize to the

          9  Corporation, I need to be jumping back and forth

         10  because I am on the Land Use Subcommittee that is

         11  meeting.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Yes, I also

         13  wanted to say that. There is other meetings going

         14  on, and if you see colleagues going in and out, you

         15  will know why.

         16                 Let me call on my colleagues and then

         17  come back to some other questions. I just want to

         18  make sure I set the record straight, because there

         19  was an article that disturbed me, and I want to get

         20  you on the record to at least clarify and set the

         21  record straight.

         22                 There was an article in the New York

         23  Post back in March of 1999, which basically talked

         24  about the issue of these services and women,

         25  particularly they singled out the City public
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          2  hospitals, and I am assuming when they did that,

          3  they were involving both private and public.

          4                 But in there, it mentioned about a

          5  startling revelation about the critical breast

          6  cancer screening test is contained in an internal

          7  City Health and Hospitals Corporation memo. And in

          8  there it talks about a startling note and mentions

          9  your name about how you served notice on all medical

         10  and professional affairs where you scolded medical

         11  directors of all 11 City hospitals over lack time in

         12  notifying women of their test results. It went on to

         13  say, the survey results show a wide variation from

         14  one day to seven weeks based on responses from the

         15  directors, the radiology directors.

         16                 Dr. Dunn wrote in the October 9th

         17  directive and it says, quote, that you put hospitals

         18  on notice that he, meaning you, was establishing a

         19  corporate standard for reporting mammographic

         20  results. If the results are abnormal, the

         21  radiologist must contact the primary care provider

         22  no later than the next working day, you wrote. He

         23  said doctors must notify their patients immediately

         24  for an appointment at the patient's earliest

         25  convenience. And it says if the mammogram showed no
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          2  abnormalty, Dr. Dunn said, the patient must be

          3  notified within 48 hours by her doctor. And then it

          4  goes on to say some other things.

          5                 Can we talk about, one, the statement

          6  to has this protocol been put into place? What is it

          7  really you are doing, and what has been the results

          8  if this goes back to March of '99? I am assuming

          9  your memorandum was about the same time, so this

         10  must be in place a year, is that fair to say? And

         11  can you just tell us what the results have been?

         12                 DR. DUNN: First I want to clarify

         13  what that memo is. That memo has nothing to do with

         14  access to mammography services. One of the things

         15  that we strive for --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Move the mike

         17  closer.

         18                 DR. DUNN: One of the things that we

         19  strive for, whenever we provide any service and we

         20  have results, is to give it back to the patient as

         21  soon as possible. And this survey was to make sure

         22  that women who received mammography services at our

         23  facilities were getting their results back in a

         24  timely manner. And I felt that as the Corporation we

         25  needed to have a standard to make sure that every
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          2  woman was notified in an appropriate time period.

          3  So, we established those goals and we are fulfilling

          4  those goals, and that it wasn't appropriate that

          5  someone had a normal mammogram, that it took seven

          6  weeks for them to get the results of their

          7  mammogram.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: So, if I may, so

          9  I can follow this, you are saying that currently

         10  these results can take place one to a maximum seven

         11  days; is that what this is saying?

         12                 DR. DUNN: Right. For a normal result.

         13  Abnormal results are required that the primary care

         14  provider follow up that day that they get the

         15  results, and they contact the woman and request that

         16  she come back in to get the results.

         17                 We do not give out bad results over

         18  the phone or in a letter. We have them come back and

         19  tell them that they had an abnormal mammogram,

         20  discuss what their options are.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I am just picking

         22  up what Council Member Oddo's mother and family is

         23  going through. So, this notification that you reach

         24  out to the patient, the consumer, is the

         25  notification in writing or is it a one-to-one
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          2  verbally?

          3                 DR. DUNN: One is we inform them by

          4  writing that their results are in and that they

          5  should come in for the results. If it's a normal

          6  result --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: It doesn't scare

          8  people like this letter?

          9                 DR. DUNN: We do not scare patients.

         10  Our purpose is to inform patients in the appropriate

         11  manner, which is a one to one face-to-face.

         12                 If the results are normal, they can

         13  get a letter saying we have the results of your

         14  mammography, everything is normal, you can follow up

         15  in a year for your next exam. If the exam is

         16  abnormal, the physician first tries to contact the

         17  patient on the phone to have the patient come in,

         18  and if they can't get them on the phone then they

         19  send them a letter requesting them to come in to

         20  discuss the results of their exam.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay, and based

         22  upon, have you evaluated your own protocol, given

         23  that it has been a year in place, and what have you

         24  found from that?

         25                 DR. DUNN: Yes, we have. We now have
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          2  one standard for the Corporation, and the facilities

          3  are following those guidelines.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: So an individual

          5  need not wait 48 hours, particularly these are the

          6  abnormal.

          7                 DR. DUNN: Right.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: In 48 hours that

          9  person can come in to discuss the results that you

         10  are saying they are notified saying they have come

         11  in?

         12                 DR. DUNN: Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: However, someone

         14  whose result probably is abnormal, you are saying

         15  that that contact is made immediately, i.e., either

         16  verbally, directly by the doctor and you follow it

         17  up with a similar general saying the results are in,

         18  come in to see us, correct? You don't scare them.

         19                 DR. DUNN: No. One of the things we

         20  strive, if a woman comes in for mammography, we just

         21  do not do the exam, we also do a breast exam. We get

         22  the women to wait, if they can, until the mammograms

         23  are read so that no woman should leave the facility

         24  not knowing that they had an abnormal exam.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Dr. Dunn, let me
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          2  ask you again. Currently what is the cost that HHC

          3  accumulates every time you do these exams? What is

          4  the total cost? What's your experience in terms of

          5  the average cost?

          6                 DR. DUNN: Well, our costs are

          7  probably what the industry cost is.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I still can't

          9  hear you.

         10                 DR. DUNN: I'm sorry.

         11                 Our costs are similar to what the

         12  industry cost is, about $120.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And your

         14  reimbursement, at least the federal is still at $70?

         15                 DR. DUNN: Yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Now, do you have

         17  any idea when that $70 went into place? Has it been

         18  five years, has it been a year?

         19                 DR. DUNN: Well, the rates started out

         20  at $55 and were indexed based on inflation, and that

         21  was back in 1990. So, since 1990 it has gone from

         22  $55 to $68.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay. That's the

         24  federal Medicare.

         25                 Now, in the Medicaid, that's state,
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          2  correct?

          3                 DR. DUNN: State and federal.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: What is the

          5  reimbursement there?

          6                 DR. DUNN: It's about the same.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And similarly

          8  also stays at the same rate.

          9                 DR. DUNN: Yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay. Council

         11  Member Oddo.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you, Mr.

         13  Chairman.

         14                 I am sorry on various levels that

         15  this hearing has such a Staten Island bend to it,

         16  because certainly this is not a Staten Island issue,

         17  it is not even a New York City issue, it is a

         18  national issue. But with respect to my home borough,

         19  I think my worst fears are being realized today.

         20                 When I sat down I thought about this,

         21  I just put two and two together, if we don't have an

         22  acute care facility, in all likelihood, we do not

         23  have mammography services being provided to us by

         24  HHC, and we heard that in fact today. And I don't

         25  want to beat up on these people in front of us
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          2  because they are good people and they are part of

          3  the solution, they are not part of the problem, but

          4  I can't help but have this flashback to the days

          5  when we considered ourselves the forgotten borough.

          6  It's absolutely amazing that one of the five

          7  boroughs in the City of New York is not being

          8  provided a service that the rest of the citizens of

          9  the City receive. And I am not looking to pit Staten

         10  Island versus any other community, but I will be

         11  damned if I, and I know I have a great ally in you,

         12  Mr. Chairman, I will be damned if I am going to

         13  allow this to continue.

         14                 With respect to the Kings County

         15  Staten Island Network, I am not going to go near

         16  that issue because that is a joke. I have been on

         17  record of seeing it for a year that that is a

         18  one-way street, and a one-way street goes in the

         19  direction of Kings County, not in Staten Island, and

         20  being part of that network, it is absolutely

         21  meaningless to me, when you have the person who sits

         22  as the head of the network is the head of one of the

         23  entities within the network, that is an inherent

         24  conflict of interest and that's a joke. So, I don't

         25  even want to go there. I don't even want to go
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          2  there.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Council Member

          4  let me just say this: I intend to address that area

          5  where I believe you are right. Unfortunately the

          6  Corporation was created by state law, and I would

          7  rather try to deal with the issue and correct it,

          8  and I say to you, at least in the next five months

          9  as long as I am chair of this Committee, I have no

         10  problems sitting down with you and Dr. Dunn on what

         11  the network is not doing for the people of Staten

         12  Island. I just have to work within the framework

         13  that is in place, and my concern is I agree with

         14  you.

         15                 I believe that the people of Staten

         16  Island, as part of New York City, have every right

         17  to receive services in their own borough rather than

         18  going out of the borough, and that is my commitment.

         19  So, I just want to be clear because I am just as

         20  frustrated as you are, as you know, but it is state

         21  mandated.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I appreciate

         23  that, Mr. Chairman, really.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let me just --

         25  you wanted to respond? Will you yield to just let
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          2  him respond?

          3                 MS. BROWN: Absolutely.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

          5                 MS. BROWN: We are extremely sensitive

          6  to the health care needs of the citizens of New York

          7  who live in the Borough of Staten Island. It was

          8  never my intention in mentioning the construct of

          9  the network to imply that Staten Island women do not

         10  deserve to have adequate access mammography

         11  services, but we have a reality, and the Chairperson

         12  mentioned the enabling legislation that created the

         13  Corporation, when that enabling legislation was in

         14  effect, came into effect in 1969, 1970, there was

         15  only one hospital and institution, City institution

         16  on Staten Island which was the Seaview. We have not,

         17  again, been mandated by any entity to establish a

         18  hospital on Staten Island.

         19                 My suggestion for a way to ensure

         20  that there is access on the Island for the residents

         21  of Staten Island, in working with existing hospitals

         22  on Staten Island was, again, to ensure that while

         23  there is access in the voluntary sector,

         24  notwithstanding the problems that you will hear from

         25  our colleagues at Greater New York within the
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          2  private and the voluntary sector in terms of the

          3  limitations, and while there is no HHC facility

          4  acute care, and DNTC facility on the Island, there

          5  are ways to ensure access in a collaborative effort

          6  as we move forward.

          7                 However, when we were invited to this

          8  hearing today, we were not invited, we did not

          9  understand that we were invited to talk about the

         10  way that Health and Hospitals Corporation was

         11  structured and the limitation of that structure

         12  vis-a-vis Staten Island, we were invited to talk

         13  about what HHC does with regard to mammography

         14  services, and we look forward to working with

         15  Council Member Oddo and this Committee and the

         16  Chairperson in moving forward. But we would very

         17  much appreciate that there be an acknowledgment that

         18  the way in which we are structured at this point is

         19  without that acute care facility on the island and

         20  needing to work with you within that constraint.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And let me just

         22  say that, again, I want to set this to rest.

         23                 You are correct, although I think as

         24  Chairman of this Committee and this Committee has an

         25  obligation when something comes before us that we
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          2  believe we should look at, and so I have been around

          3  here 17 years to know, where there is a will there

          4  is a way, and there is a public facility in Staten

          5  Island called Seaview, and, so, I am prepared to

          6  work with my colleagues of Staten Island, and with

          7  the Corporation, and you know the way I operate, I

          8  put my money where my mouth is. I repeat, there is

          9  no reason why before November or when we deal with

         10  the November budget mod, that perhaps we find a way

         11  of providing those services at that particular

         12  location, of course, in the spirit of cooperation

         13  with the private sector, I am a believer, I support

         14  the public system before I go into the voluntary

         15  system, there is another layer that has a

         16  responsibility. So, I am going to work with us in

         17  addressing the reimbursement, which is a problem. If

         18  they had the proper reimbursement, then you would

         19  have this cooperation between the private sector and

         20  the public. Unfortunately, what I understand, and

         21  that is why Council Member Chris Quinn has this

         22  resolution, so long as the cost exceeds the

         23  reimbursement, there are institutions that have no

         24  choice, not that they want to phase it out or close

         25  it down, they have no choice. And, so, I am just
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          2  simply saying, we will work on all areas.

          3                 And having said that, please, folks,

          4  it is not a personal attack on the Corporation. On

          5  the contrary, I want to work with my colleagues, not

          6  only Jim Oddo, but Jay O'Donovan, Steve Fiala, as

          7  the borough delegation to address what I believe

          8  they have the right to demand of, that's why they

          9  get elected.

         10                 Having said that, Council Member

         11  Oddo.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Mr. Chairman, I

         13  look forward to setting up a meeting and sitting

         14  around the same table, HHC, yourself, your staff,

         15  myself, my staff, and the privates and seeing how

         16  best we can work together. But, frankly, I am

         17  astounded that that hasn't happened to date.

         18                 Now, we have had Doctors Hospital go

         19  out of business, we have had many clinics on Staten

         20  Island go out of business, why hasn't that meeting

         21  taken place sooner?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Well, Council

         23  Member, I can't answer about the past. Let me just

         24  say this, again --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I understand
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          2  that.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let me say this:

          4  I have five months left as Chairman of this

          5  Committee. I could pledge to you to do whatever I

          6  can to coordinate such a meeting. I do believe this

          7  meeting should take place. But the issue is not

          8  about coordinating alone. It is also about, I

          9  believe in what I hear is a service that I

         10  recognize, and particularly my colleagues, that

         11  should not exist today. And, so, I hope we move

         12  forward to try to find a way we can provide those

         13  services, even though we will work with the private

         14  sector, I am a believer. I have tremendous faith in

         15  the Corporation, given all of its problems, and I

         16  find that whenever I attempt to deal with issues, it

         17  is the Corporation that I turn to. So, let's just

         18  say there is a commitment, let's move forward on

         19  your questions. I have other members that would like

         20  to ask questions, too, on a Citywide dilemma that

         21  impacts every single borough, I think they have the

         22  right to also understand how the service is being

         23  provided in their own borough. So, having said that,

         24  Council Member Oddo.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: All right, two
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          2  quick additional questions.

          3                 A few months back when the issue

          4  about closing of clinics first surfaced, there was

          5  concern on my part that the HHC facility, the

          6  Highland Center, may be one of the clinics that

          7  would be targeted for closing, and I wrote to Dr.

          8  Marcos and Dr. Marcos responded with a letter dated

          9  May 14th, and in his letter -- I am sorry, it was

         10  from Francis Pandofe. In her letter back to me, they

         11  recognized the fact that the Highland Center, in her

         12  words, does have the capacity to handle more visits.

         13  Why can't we commence mammography services at the

         14  Highland Center specifically?

         15                 DR. DUNN: You just cannot open

         16  mammography services. It is regulated by the FDA.

         17  There are guidelines set by the American College of

         18  Radiology that you have to fulfill. It's a space

         19  requirement, it's a shielding requirement, it just

         20  cannot be, just can put a machine in there and start

         21  operation.

         22                 So, we would have to look at the

         23  space and whether or not it would fit the

         24  requirements in order to get certified.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: One last
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          2  question, Mr. Chairman.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Before you move

          4  on, and I think I picked up -- you are saying why it

          5  cannot be there, correct? But, however, I did visit

          6  it, and, again, listen, this meeting, I would be

          7  more than happy to revisit the place. I have been

          8  there, remember? You went there, okay? There is

          9  space. I know when we have problems with, and I want

         10  you to listen, when we have problem with schools and

         11  overcrowding, we find portable annexes. I mean, I am

         12  just saying to you that there are ways that we can

         13  address it and still not violate anything. Can we

         14  just move forward? But, again, I am ready to go into

         15  Staten Island and coordinate these meetings and deal

         16  with two issues. One, how do we get these services

         17  there? And two, how do we coordinate with whoever

         18  has to be coordinated?

         19                 Having said that, Council Member

         20  Oddo.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: The last

         22  question.

         23                 I know you couldn't give us a number

         24  earlier on, but can you give us a rough estimate,

         25  can you give us an idea of how much money we are
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          2  talking about in order to start services on Staten

          3  Island?

          4                 MS. BROWN: I think it would be unfair

          5  to you, for us to give you a seat of the pants or a

          6  back of the envelope number, but do know that we are

          7  talking about the equipment, we are talking, and Dr.

          8  Dunn has stated, and my colleagues from Greater New

          9  York will probably go into this further, there are

         10  extremely restrictive regulations, in terms of the

         11  type of building that such equipment needs to be in

         12  to protect the staff and the patients and the

         13  general community. There are specific requirements

         14  in terms of staffing, staff, the level of expertise,

         15  radiologists, as well as technicians, et cetera. So,

         16  in order for us I think to have a substantive

         17  conversation, we need to do some analysis for you,

         18  bring that into the context of the meetings that you

         19  guys will convene, and will appropriately

         20  participate in, and move forward from there.

         21                 I don't think it would be fair for us

         22  to give you, you know, and off-the-cuff number.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Mr. Chairman, I

         25  just want to let you know that I will be walking
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          2  across the hall at some point today, and making a

          3  direct appeal to the Administration for some dollars

          4  to make sure that money is not an issue.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay, excellent.

          7                 And wherever I can get from Peter to

          8  give to Paul, I will go anywhere, even without

          9  spending $20 million to go to space, I will go

         10  across the way with you too.

         11                 Let me just say, because Council

         12  Member Moskowitz is next, but since I have all of my

         13  colleagues and there are other meetings, I have to

         14  do some housekeeping.

         15                 We are going to vote to file this

         16  resolution, Reso 1724, which calls upon this

         17  Committee to hold a hearing on the timely

         18  availability of mammograms at New York City

         19  Hospitals, and to do that we are going to vote now

         20  so that if colleagues have to leave to other

         21  meetings, in terms of Committee meetings, they will

         22  not miss this vote.

         23                 So, having said that, Mr. Clerk,

         24  would you please call the roll?

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK: Robles.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Yes.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK: Povman.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER POVMAN: Aye.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK: Clarke.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Aye.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK: Reed.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Aye.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK: Espada.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: Aye.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK: Quinn.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Aye.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK: Moskowitz.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Aye.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK: Oddo.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of eight in

         18  the affirmative, zero in the negative and no

         19  abstentions, the item is filed.

         20                 Please sign the reports.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Hold on for a

         22  second.

         23                 I don't normally do this, but there

         24  was a request.

         25                 Although you called Council Member
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          2  Reed and I believe he voted, you did such a great

          3  job that you went on to the next person and he

          4  wanted to explain his vote.

          5                 So, just for the moment, it's rare,

          6  but I would give the distinguished member the right

          7  to explain his vote.

          8                 Council Member Reed to explain his

          9  vote.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: It is a

         11  demonstration of how great you are, Mr. Chair. Thank

         12  you.

         13                 Several of us have a lot of

         14  conflicting things to do, and I just wanted to tell

         15  my colleague that many of us are upset that we now

         16  have this issue, and I want to applaud him for doing

         17  that, and I want to make sure that my name gets

         18  listed as the prime sponsor. And, obviously, we will

         19  have the commitment of those of us who are

         20  returning, I applaud the Chair for talking about

         21  doing this in the next five months, but this is an

         22  issue that is going to get resolved, it makes no

         23  sense to people to have to concern themselves about

         24  not having facilities in crossing over water

         25  boundaries to find out a basic piece about their
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          2  health. So, I just wanted to assure Council Member

          3  Oddo, and thank the Chair for the opportunity to

          4  speak on this.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

          7                 I also see that Council Member Clarke

          8  has joined us, and I think she voted, too, right?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Oh, yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay. Please sign

         11  the -- what do you call that?

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK: The report.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: The report, I'm

         14  sorry.

         15                 Council Member Moskowitz.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Thank you,

         17  Mr. Chair. And thank you, Council Member Oddo, for

         18  bringing this issue to the fore.

         19                 I wanted to begin with a brief

         20  comment. Obviously this is a women's issue, but it

         21  is also a civil rights issue in the sense that, as I

         22  understand it, African-American women suffer the

         23  highest mortality rates and the lowest survival

         24  rates and Latino women are the fastest, have the

         25  fastest growing incidence of breast cancer. And I
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          2  wanted to focus my question on some of your

          3  statistics, Dr. Van Dunn.

          4                 You say in your testimony that 92

          5  percent of eligible women had mammograms, compared

          6  to the calendar year of 1999, in which we reached

          7  the rate of 87 percent. That sounds incredible and

          8  outstanding, but I guess I am a little bit

          9  skeptical, and I wanted to understand exactly what

         10  that means, because later on in the testimony, that

         11  totals a number of 70,972 women. So, are you saying

         12  that there are only somewhat more than 70,972 women

         13  who are indigent who are over the age of 40? Because

         14  that is what it sounds like you are saying.

         15                 When I say eligible, it's that we are

         16  a City agency, a lot of people come into our

         17  facilities for one-shot deal, they come into the

         18  emergency room or they come into the clinics for an

         19  unrelated illness and therefore never come back

         20  again, and it is very difficult to identify them as

         21  a patient who has been followed at our facility and

         22  therefore count them as someone who should be

         23  getting a mammogram. So, someone comes in once and

         24  we never see him again, we can't them because they

         25  are not followed regularly in our clinic and getting
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          2  primary care.

          3                 Those are women who are primary care

          4  patients who come in regularly to their physician

          5  and as part of their health maintenance we require

          6  that they get mammography done. So, that's how we

          7  look at that.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: I guess I

          9  feel those statistics are a little, you need to

         10  explain that in your testimony.

         11                 Let me get to the real question. The

         12  real question is how many women are there over 40 in

         13  the City of New York who could be eligible for HHC's

         14  mammograms? In other words, how many women are we

         15  not reaching? Are we talking about 300,000? Are we

         16  talking about a million? Can you give me a ball park

         17  figure?

         18                 DR. DUNN: Off the top of my head I

         19  can't give you that figure. I mean, we are only 16

         20  facilities in a city that probably has over 100

         21  facilities that offer these services.

         22                 And we serve any woman who comes in

         23  our facility who wants a mammogram, they are not

         24  turned away, we offer them service.

         25                 So, I can't say how many we are
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          2  missing. I can say that we have a significant number

          3  of women who come into the facilities for one visit

          4  only, and don't have an address or their address is

          5  invalid or don't have a telephone call that we try

          6  to follow up to get them to come back in and they

          7  don't come back in. But for the women who come to

          8  our facilities regularly, receive their primary care

          9  visits, we ensure that they get mammographies done.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: So, you

         11  have no way of -- you don't do any research on

         12  approximately how many indigent women there are over

         13  40 who should be getting mammograms?

         14                 DR. DUNN: No, because there is no way

         15  for us to track that information because they may be

         16  receiving services somewhere else. Just because they

         17  are indigent doesn't mean that they have to come to

         18  HHC.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: I

         20  understand that. But I guess then that your earlier

         21  testimony is somewhat frustrating because you say,

         22  you list all of the wonderful things you are doing.

         23  You encourage routine mammography screening for

         24  women in their forties, you do outreach and

         25  education. You know, without knowing the total
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          2  target population, that becomes a somewhat

          3  meaningless statement. I would ask you then, how

          4  much do you spend to do the outreach? What is the

          5  outreach budget?

          6                 MS. BROWN: May I answer that

          7  question? Or I can answer a couple of the questions

          8  that you have asked.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Certainly.

         10                 MS. BROWN: I think it is extremely

         11  important that the Council put HHC's role within a

         12  context. When Dr. Dunn talks about what we do with

         13  regard to mammogram, he is talking about our

         14  responsibility as a provider of services to the

         15  patients who use HHC's primary care services. There

         16  are certain requirements with regard to primary care

         17  providers, and if you are providing that care for

         18  your patients, and if your patients are comprised of

         19  women, you must provide mammography services and

         20  there are other things. So, when he talked about our

         21  universe, the percentage of women for whom we've

         22  achieved that requirement, that's what he's talking

         23  about.

         24                 Unfortunately, we are not the public,

         25  the City Department of Health or the Public Health
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          2  Authority or the State Department of Health, that

          3  would probably be the appropriate entities to answer

          4  your very important questions as to the total

          5  universe of women in the City of New York. There are

          6  7 million people in this City, as you know. HHC

          7  serves 1.5 million of those individuals. So, when

          8  Dr. Dunn says that for anyone who walks into HHC,

          9  and if they walk into HHC and ask for a mammogram,

         10  we will provide that mammogram. But when he speaks

         11  about our efforts to ensure that women over a

         12  certain age or women with certain risks get those

         13  mammograms every year, then he is talking about the

         14  patients whom we have a sustained primary care

         15  relationship and responsibility for.

         16                 So we are only part, again, we are

         17  talking about a pie, if the pie was a total health

         18  care system in this City, we are a part of that pie,

         19  we are a large part of that pie, and particularly

         20  for people without insurance, but we are not the

         21  only pie. There are fairly qualified health centers

         22  who provide services to women and voluntary

         23  hospitals and others.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: I

         25  understand that, and I think you are assuming a
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          2  level of ignorance here that I don't think exists, I

          3  understand that. But there is a mandate that HHC has

          4  to serve the indigent and their healthcare needs,

          5  and I get a little frustrated when I see a statistic

          6  of 92 percent and then I have a whole page of all of

          7  the wonderful education and outreach efforts that

          8  you do without really knowing and it's rather vague.

          9                 We encourage routine mammography

         10  screening for women in their forties and older. We

         11  encourage routine mammography screening for the

         12  70,000 women who are our primary care patients. You

         13  don't put a dollar figure attached to how much you

         14  spend on the outreach. So, I have no idea what that

         15  means. Are you spending a million dollars on

         16  outreach, or are you spending $25.36? Because

         17  obviously the results of your efforts are going to

         18  be very different, depending on how much you spend

         19  and how smart your campaign is.

         20                 MS. BROWN: We would be very happy,

         21  Councilwoman, to provide you with the information as

         22  to how much we spend on our screening efforts. That

         23  was not asked of us, again, we do not have that

         24  question in advance, so we did not come prepared to

         25  answer questions with regard to cost, with regard to
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          2  outreach efforts or cost with regard to the other

          3  cost-related questions that were answered. We will

          4  provide you with that as a follow up to this

          5  hearing.

          6                 My comments were not intended to

          7  imply any ignorance on anyone's part. My comments

          8  were intended with regard to HHC's mission. You said

          9  our mission is to serve the indigent. There are

         10  approximately 1.9 million uninsured individuals in

         11  the City, if we were to assume that 49 to 50 percent

         12  of those people were women, then we would say there

         13  are a million women potentially in the City who are

         14  indigent who could benefit from HHC services. Again,

         15  we provide services to one and a half million

         16  people. When we do our outreach efforts, we do broad

         17  outreach efforts to the community. We don't limit

         18  those outreach efforts to the patients who are

         19  coming into HHC. I believe Dr. Dunn talked about our

         20  Mother's Day Campaigns, we have health fairs. Anyone

         21  who comes to those health fairs, screening fairs, et

         22  cetera, those outreach activities, are made aware of

         23  what we offer in terms of mammography and other

         24  women's health services, and anyone who comes to

         25  those outreach efforts can take advantage of our
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          2  mammography services. I will get the cost numbers

          3  for you at a later time.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: I would

          5  appreciate, Mr. Chairman, if we could get them.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let me just say,

          7  I am sorry I had to step out for a minute, the total

          8  since we first started back in 1990, which now

          9  became baselined, is about $5.4 million, of which

         10  out of that money 1 million goes directly to HHC;

         11  are those figures correct?

         12                 MS. BROWN: Are you talking about

         13  programs for breast cancer outreach?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Right.

         15                 MS. BROWN: I think it is between

         16  750,000 -- it is a little less than a million, but,

         17  again, it is not 5 million.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

         19                 MS. BROWN: I know that the Council

         20  funds a breast outreach program, Kings County,

         21  Queens Hospital Center, and I think there is a third

         22  one, but not in all of our networks or all of our

         23  facilities.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And, so, I think

         25  to follow her question, why don't we just provide me
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          2  with whatever you do get.

          3                 MS. BROWN: Absolutely.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: What do you do

          5  with it and how you do with it, I think that's the

          6  question, okay?

          7                 MS. BROWN: I believe, if I may, that

          8  the Councilwoman was asking a broader question, but

          9  within the context of the answer, we will provide

         10  the funding that the Council has provided us over

         11  the last few years, and the substance of the

         12  programs that we offer using that funding.

         13                 However, it is important to note that

         14  HHC provides breast cancer and other cancer outreach

         15  cancers that go beyond the funding provided by the

         16  City Council.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Thank you,

         18  Mr. Chair.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Council Member

         20  Quinn.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.

         22                 I want to thank Council Member

         23  Moskowitz for asking that question, because that's

         24  actually one that I had because the way it read, I

         25  mean I think you can understand the confusion, it
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          2  made it sound like, you know --

          3                 DR. DUNN: That's why I said eligible,

          4  because I didn't want to mislead you that it was

          5  every woman we serve.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Perhaps in the

          7  future you should define what your -- because how I

          8  understood eligiblity, and I believe my colleague

          9  understood eligibility was quite different than how

         10  you understood eligibility. So, I mean I understand

         11  some of your points about these women who are

         12  eligible for your service could certainly be

         13  somewhere else, but that would be kind of useful.

         14  Because sometimes, as we all know in our agencies or

         15  shops, so-to-speak, you know, we have our own lingo.

         16                 Obviously the issue of availability

         17  of mammograms and care around breast cancer is one

         18  whose responsibility is beyond HHC and you are just

         19  one player.

         20                 Now, that said, one of the things

         21  that I have been thinking over in the hearing is,

         22  why hasn't HHC, given that compared to what we have

         23  heard about the voluntary hospitals, a very short

         24  waiting time, but nonetheless have the knowledge of

         25  the problems that the voluntaries are having, how
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          2  long their waiting times are and closures, et

          3  cetera. I guess I am wondering why HHC as the public

          4  hospital system hasn't convened some kind of meeting

          5  or summit or something to get everyone in the room

          6  together. Because minimally if, in fact, the HHC

          7  waiting time is four days, I believe is what your

          8  testimony said, you have the ability to be a

          9  tremendous resource to the voluntaries and to the

         10  women who are going there. You have an ability to

         11  help, you know, decrease the backlogs those

         12  hospitals have.

         13                 You also have, I think, an important

         14  story to tell the federal government about what the

         15  impact of insurance, et cetera, is having. So, I

         16  guess I feel frustrated and somewhat critical of the

         17  corporation in that you haven't taken that lead and

         18  brought everyone together. I think that may not

         19  technically be in the Corporation's bylaws as

         20  responsibilities, but certainly given your role as

         21  the public hospital system, I think it certainly

         22  would be in the spirit of your bylaws. Why haven't

         23  you done that, and do you have plans to do that,

         24  that would, of course, have included Staten Island,

         25  but would go far beyond Staten Island, in my
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          2  opinion?

          3                 MS. BROWN: Well, we have a lot of

          4  responsibility, as you well know, many of which --

          5  but our prime responsibility is to provide service.

          6  We are often challenged by that, particularly as it

          7  relates to financial resources.

          8                 To answer your question why not, we

          9  can't say why we haven't. There are many forums,

         10  however, there are also many organizations whose

         11  primary responsibility is to convene to collaborate,

         12  to plan, and we act as participants in those forums.

         13  We belong to the greater New York hospital

         14  association. That convenes many members of cross

         15  sectors on a myriad of important health care

         16  concerns. We participate in those forums, we

         17  participate in those forums that are convened by the

         18  Council and by others. Let me just finish.

         19                 As it relates to, you mentioned

         20  issues with regard to federal legislation. We have a

         21  legislative agenda that we develop each year, and

         22  high up in that legislative agenda, at least under

         23  the last four years under my tenure, we have had the

         24  issue of increased rates for ambulatory care

         25  services for uninsured individuals. That would
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          2  envelop the issues of mammography and other types of

          3  preventive screening and treatment services.

          4                 We have been very active in

          5  discussions at the state level with regard to the

          6  need to change Medicaid rates for the provision of

          7  outpatient services, very active with regards to

          8  ensuring that uninsured individuals, including

          9  immigrants, documented and legal immigrants, get the

         10  provision of health care coverage that they should

         11  as a right, we have been part of an Amicus

         12  legislation. So, there are many, many things that

         13  the Health and Hospitals Corporation has been

         14  involved in in advocating to ensure greater access

         15  for uninsured New Yorkers. We haven't been involved

         16  in everything that anyone could possibly think of,

         17  but if this august group is asking us to be part of

         18  such forums, we would be happy to participate.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Well, I am glad

         20  to hear that. Yes, you know, of course your first

         21  responsibility is to serve, though given that your

         22  backlog is only four days, which is quite

         23  remarkable, given what we read in the papers about,

         24  you know, other hospital systems, and what we hear

         25  from our constituents I think that you have a unique
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          2  ability to help serve, particularly, since, as you

          3  said, there are women who fall in the large

          4  catchment community of public hospitals who go other

          5  places, who are simply not being served because of

          6  the backlog. So, I think that you go back to your

          7  core mission, you have missed an opportunity to help

          8  serve, by not having reached out, given the crisis

          9  that we are seeing in mammography availability right

         10  now. So, we will move forward and we will try to

         11  address that.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Before you move

         13  on, let me just step in, because whenever the future

         14  of New York City comes into the room I think we are

         15  going to stop, and we are.

         16                 We have been joined, and visiting

         17  with us today, a group of youngsters, 35, second

         18  grade, from Public School 204 in Council Member

         19  Marty Golden's district, Joanne Moddo is, I am

         20  assuming the teacher, or who has brought this class

         21  here.

         22                 Let me say I want to welcome you to

         23  City Hall. This is the Committee on Health, and we

         24  are having an oversight hearing and those who are

         25  testifying happen to be the senior vice presidents
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          2  within the Health and Hospitals Corporation.

          3                 Welcome. I hope that your trip and

          4  your stay at City Hall is one that you enjoy.  Let

          5  me also, I have a habit and I have got to say it,

          6  because you are up there in the balcony, right? And

          7  I am down here and we are down here. Well, you could

          8  be down here doing exactly what we are doing, and

          9  you know how you do that? Exactly what you are doing

         10  now - study hard, get a good education, then if you

         11  were impressed with what you see in this beautiful

         12  building, then I hope that one day you dare to run

         13  for public office.

         14                 So, welcome to City Hall and enjoy

         15  your day.

         16                 Thank you, Council Member.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.

         18                 I have one more question. In your

         19  list on page two of the categories of women, or

         20  types of women who are receiving targeted outreach

         21  or perhaps more intensified outreach from the

         22  Corporation, which of course is incredibly

         23  appropriate, which I am a little concerned because I

         24  don't see any reference to lesbians or bisexual

         25  women.
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          2                 I raise that for reasons I am sure

          3  you are aware of. One, it has been well documented

          4  that because of the reality of, in some cases, and

          5  the fear of homophobia in the gynecological medical

          6  profession, and as we all know, well, some of you at

          7  the table more than others, going to a gynecologist

          8  is certainly a very tension -- and you are in a very

          9  vulnerable position, so you are afraid, fearful of

         10  what your doctor might think of you, you are even

         11  more resistant to go, and even those of us who are

         12  in the larger health care worlds are always

         13  resistant to go, even though we are supposed to go,

         14  so, one, we know it is documented because of that

         15  fear and reality, lesbians and bisexual women access

         16  health care far -- gynecological health care far

         17  less. And, also, as we saw, I believe, in one of the

         18  -- in the past couple of years one of the Harvard

         19  Nurses' Study, the issue of a higher rate of

         20  nulliparaty in lesbians impacts breast cancer rates

         21  and has an impact of increased rates.

         22                 So, why aren't there targeted

         23  services for that community of women?

         24                 DR. DUNN: Well, to this date w have

         25  not done any targeting to those specific groups, and
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          2  it is not out of understanding their needs, it's

          3  that we have not developed any outreach material,

          4  and that would be something that we put on our

          5  agenda and make it as a priority.

          6                 MS. BROWN: We would be happy moving

          7  forward to work with you on this.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: That's great,

          9  and I will definitely pull together a meeting with

         10  the Committee with the various health care centers

         11  out there. And I appreciate very much, so I don't

         12  want my next question to be misconstrued, the

         13  willingness to move forward, but I guess I need to

         14  go back to, and it was part of my first question,

         15  why not?

         16                 This is data that has been in the

         17  Harvard Nurses' Study, it's not like I just went out

         18  and talked to 200 lesbians that I know and am coming

         19  with some startling data that you have never heard

         20  before, so I wonder why not.

         21                 DR. DUNN: We targeted women in

         22  general, and we targeted based on ethnicity because

         23  of the clients that came into our facility. It was

         24  not a slight to the needs of lesbian, bisexual

         25  women.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Many of whom

          3  are also African-American, Hispanic --

          4                 DR. DUNN: Absolutely.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I think that the

          6  point here is we will be more than happy to sit with

          7  you and anyone else. This hearing is about

          8  addressing the issue and where we believe we have

          9  failed to address. I am prepared to work with

         10  anybody. Let's move forward.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Okay, thank

         12  you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: One last person,

         14  and I know you have a time constraint, but in

         15  fairness to Council Member Clarke, Council Member

         16  Clarke.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you very

         18  much.

         19                 I hear the passion of Council Member

         20  Oddo, and I am almost as passionate, if not more.

         21  So, the questions I am going to ask basically is,

         22  when we say mammography we are really saying cancer

         23  here, prevention of cancer, and I would just like to

         24  know whether you have done or HHC has statistics on

         25  where there are clusters of breast cancer, how it is
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          2  emerging, and certainly as we look at the changing

          3  New York, both ethnicity, immigrants, homosexual,

          4  bisexual, we are looking at a changing City and a

          5  changing need and therefore the targeting and the

          6  outreach and the education is important. And if you

          7  will just describe for us how do you try to deal

          8  with diversity, and in targeting especially where

          9  there are larger numbers?

         10                 DR. DUNN: Well, we work very closely

         11  with the City Department of Health that gathers the

         12  statistics by community and the City.

         13                 We also analyze our data for women

         14  who come in to receive mammography services who have

         15  normal breast exams and we also look at the

         16  ethnicity breakdown of women who have cancer in our

         17  facilities, and we break it down by age, we break it

         18  down by race, we break it down by ethnic background,

         19  so that we have a sense of what the distribution of

         20  breast cancer is in the population that we serve.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Can you then,

         22  and I can only concentrate from the community that I

         23  represent, knowing the large numbers of breast

         24  cancer, cervical cancer, prostate cancer, and I am

         25  sure that there are similar communities; how do you
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          2  then concentrate the resources? Because one of the

          3  things that I have heard from the time I come to the

          4  Council is the waste of money. We waste and so we

          5  cut back, we cut back, we cut back, and we cut to

          6  the bone. So, I just want to know, how do you then

          7  set priorities for these emerging illnesses,

          8  diseases, and how do you target the resources in

          9  order to meet the needs?

         10                 DR. DUNN: Well, I will give you an

         11  example. We look at the needs of the community, and

         12  one of the things that we do is we look for

         13  additional sources of monies to provide these

         14  services.

         15                 In your community we have a

         16  collaboration with the Centers for Disease Control,

         17  and with the State Health Department and with the

         18  Caribbean Women's Association, to do outreach and

         19  screening of Caribbean women in Brooklyn. So, we

         20  really have made efforts to partner with other

         21  sources of monies to get the resources and provide

         22  services to the communities that need it.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: I --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: In addition, you

         25  also have Kings County Hospital there, of which
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          2  Downstate also in this partnership, because I know I

          3  saw a report that they will put out pretty soon on

          4  that same issue.

          5                 DR. DUNN: Yes, right.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Council Member.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: I just want to

          8  know also, in terms of language and culture, I also

          9  represent parts of the Pakistanic community, and the

         10  Bangladeshi community, and I want to make sure that

         11  as much as I fight for Caribbean Americans, we are

         12  essentially, 78 ethnic groups, immigrant

         13  communities, and I just want to know how do we

         14  educate each, because many of us are religiously

         15  different, and, so, we approach a lot of issues very

         16  differently, and I just want to know what kind of

         17  outreach and targeting is done to make sure that

         18  everybody receives adequate care.

         19                 MS. BROWN: The health care industry

         20  is extremely challenged, and particularly in New

         21  York.

         22                 There would be no reason for us to

         23  sit here and say that we are doing everything for

         24  everybody in the best possible way. We can't say

         25  that. But what we can say that within the context of
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          2  the resources we have, that we are attempting to

          3  ensure that by based on what we know about the

          4  patients for whom we deliver service, that we do it

          5  in the best way possible, meeting all the regulatory

          6  requirements, all the licensing requirements, all

          7  the creditation requirements from a professional

          8  perspective or the equipment perspective, as well as

          9  to the best extent possible, all the culturally and

         10  linguistically and religious belief context as

         11  possible.

         12                 We have some incredibly, I think,

         13  exciting programs, to respond to particular culture

         14  groups and particular language, people who speak

         15  different languages and how have different religious

         16  beliefs. Coney Island Hospital, in fact, was

         17  sponsored on NPR, National Public Radio, a couple of

         18  weeks ago, as to the extent of work that they are

         19  doing with the Pakistani population in south

         20  Brooklyn. We do a lot of work in the Borough of

         21  Queens and throughout the City of New York, in East

         22  Harlem, in Manhattan, in terms of the aging

         23  population, the Chinese American population, et

         24  cetera. We still have a lot to do.

         25                 So, from our vantage point, we find
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          2  these forums helpful, because you help for us to

          3  crystalize what other things we need to do, things

          4  we may not have thought of, because you can't think

          5  of everything as you are doing.

          6                 But we also find our participation of

          7  another forum helpful to, again, help us crystalize

          8  what we can do and how we can better work with other

          9  sectors of care to make sure what the citizens of

         10  this City get that is responsive to their needs.

         11                 We can't be everything to everybody

         12  when we are facing a significant, we are facing a

         13  significant budget challenge, and notwithstanding

         14  the esteemed Chairperson's statement that other

         15  providers, when their reimbursement doesn't cover

         16  the cost of their services, they have no choice but

         17  to close down. I, frankly, was disheartened by that,

         18  because HHC has been coming to this forum, has been

         19  going to the federal government, has been going to

         20  the state, and talking about the fact that we serve

         21  more than half a million uninsured people, we spent

         22  almost a billion dollars doing it, and we only get

         23  400 million for it. But we are not closing down, and

         24  in fact when we propose to reduce our expenditures,

         25  we get the appropriate challenges from this group
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          2  and others.

          3                 So, to your question, and I know I am

          4  going on and on and on here, but to your question,

          5  we are trying to do the best we can with what we

          6  have, being responsive to the various constituents,

          7  but most importantly, being responsive to the

          8  patients that we serve.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And let me just

         10  say in fairness, because I agree with you, and

         11  that's why I am very concerned with this issue,

         12  because I am seeing where there are sectors of the

         13  City where they are closing down services because

         14  they cannot keep up with the deficit. And my concern

         15  is that you are right, where are these women going

         16  to turn to but to HHC facilities. And, so, I do not

         17  want to see ourselves get caught with our pants

         18  down, and hopefully this hearing is about preparing

         19  ourselves on how do we help the broader picture.

         20                 And let me also, and Council Member,

         21  they have --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: I know they

         23  do. I just wanted to say I understand the challenge

         24  that you have, but I started out by saying, from the

         25  time I had come to this Council, especially within
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          2  the last maybe six, seven years, every budget time,

          3  we put money in at the end of the budget here, it is

          4  not spent. We have -- I am talking about health

          5  care, that you always need more resources, because

          6  the challenge is greater, and you have to pick up

          7  everybody that nobody else wants, and for that

          8  reason I want to be able to say that I have worked

          9  diligently to make sure that HHC and the clinics are

         10  well run in order to serve populations that nobody

         11  else will serve, uninsured, underinsured, and in my

         12  case undocumented, so that I have to defend. And I

         13  just want to thank you for it, and I just don't want

         14  you to think I was making a judgment on you, but I

         15  know that resources have to be targeted where the

         16  need is greatest, and sometimes those who cannot

         17  speak for themselves get kicked to the curve.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: But let me also,

         19  in fairness, again say, because I think that you

         20  have a network of protocols in place, for example,

         21  and this is a challenge, and Council Member, like

         22  any other Councilperson, challenge applies to us

         23  too.

         24                 I believe that in terms of the

         25  location, immediate location, both in the Kings
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          2  County, you have a community advisory board, and you

          3  rely upon them based upon their evaluation of where

          4  you should be addressing services. So that the

          5  language and the changing, the census, you hope that

          6  they would also bring it to your attention.

          7                 You also have the community boards,

          8  you have the school boards, you have the elected

          9  officials. So, there is a whole host, and I suggest,

         10  and my experience has been, not because I am

         11  Chairman of the Committee, even before I became the

         12  Chairman of the Committee, I know that I have gone

         13  to you to bring to your attention concerns, and

         14  language has been one of those.

         15                 I mean, the first bill in this

         16  Council was mandating interpreters in all emergency

         17  rooms. So, I hope we understand that while there is

         18  a deficit, there is a dilemma, we can address your

         19  issue, either I, during the budget, or budget mods,

         20  but I suggest that you sit down and discuss it. And

         21  then, again, I say, like I said to Council Member

         22  Oddo, the bottom line is what is a dollar amount,

         23  and it's our obligation to make sure that we put the

         24  money in the budget that addresses that particular

         25  area.
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          2                 Having said that, I believe that you

          3  rely upon that, don't you?

          4                 MS. BROWN: Absolutely.

          5                 We get input from our community

          6  advisory boards, from the community planning bodies,

          7  and that's why I mentioned the various

          8  constituencies, we get input from everybody and it

          9  is an issue of balancing the different perspectives

         10  and viewpoints. But we absolutely use the input of

         11  our community advisory boards and our consumers, as

         12  to what their needs are, and particularly in the

         13  area of language and cultural issues and religious

         14  issues in the provision of services.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: All right, one of

         16  the things I'm going to do before you leave is, I

         17  will have Judith reach out so that we could

         18  coordinate this meeting, and maybe we should do it

         19  at Seaview, and perhaps begin the dialogue, okay?

         20                 MS. BROWN: Absolutely. Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you so

         22  much. I appreciate the fact, and I have to say that

         23  my confidence in HHC grows, because, like you said,

         24  when nobody else wants to deal with it, you're stuck

         25  with it, and that's why I am very supportive of HHC,
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          2  because I do know the dilemma you are in, you do not

          3  turn away anybody, and for that I want you to know

          4  this chair will do everything to work with you to

          5  try to provide, wherever possible, the means for you

          6  to function.

          7                 Thank you so much.

          8                 MS. BROWN: The chairperson in this

          9  specific committee, especially your work and your

         10  efforts are very much appreciated. Thank you very

         11  much.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I understand, and

         13  we have a little dilemma, and I ask my colleagues to

         14  be patient with me -- we are going to call up Dr.

         15  Robert Schmidt, who is the Associate Professor of

         16  Radiology at New York University Medical Center. He

         17  wants to deliver his statement.

         18                 Why don't you, sir, and then I will

         19  call upon the Greater New York.

         20                 Just identify yourself for the record

         21  and proceed, sir.

         22                 DR. SCHMIDT: Hi. I am Dr. Robert

         23  Schmidt and I am an Associate Professor of Radiology

         24  at the NYU Medical Center, and we also provide

         25  mammography services at Bellevue and Gouverneur
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          2  Hospital, and I really appreciate the opportunity to

          3  address you, Mr. Robles, Ms. Quinn, Mr. Oddo.

          4                 I think that you said earlier that it

          5  takes three to tango, so I am going to throw my two

          6  left feet into this here, because I know a little

          7  bit about this, and I am going to provide a

          8  perspective that may seem a little complex to you,

          9  but they are all ingredients to the problem here.

         10                 I have been doing breast imaging now

         11  for about 15 years, I trained with Dr. Tabar in

         12  Sweden, and just this last month, May 1st, in

         13  cancer, a large major publication in the medical

         14  field, he reported that the impact of mammography is

         15  actually probably about twice as good as we thought

         16  it was before, that you can get, if you get people

         17  to have regular screening, about a 50 percent

         18  reduction in mortality as opposed to the 20 or 30

         19  percent that people usually talk about.

         20                 So, this is extremely heartening

         21  news, and it's something that I have been working

         22  for myself to get disseminated in the community.

         23  This is the single most frequent solid organ cancer

         24  in women. It is a very important cancer, because it

         25  is something we can do something about, that's rare
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          2  in medical intervention to actually get as much as a

          3  50 percent improvement.

          4                 Now, despite this good news, we have

          5  got an imminent crisis developing here. It has been

          6  brewing for about two years or so, and I think that

          7  we are at a point now where we are starting to see

          8  some of the negative impacts, we are seeing closures

          9  of mammography clinics, we have certainly seen

         10  increased waiting times. This is not unique to New

         11  York. I travel all around the country, it's a

         12  national problem and it does need to be addressed.

         13                 Some of the compounding things are

         14  that there is actually a limitation in supply of

         15  radiologists who are (a) capable, (b) certified and

         16  (c) willing to do this.

         17                 The younger radiologists are not

         18  going into this right now. There has been a decrease

         19  in the number of fellowship programs, the number of

         20  applicants applying to the ones that exist are

         21  smaller, and, in fact, the people applying are

         22  unfortunately not quite as good as those are used

         23  to.

         24                 So, the issues like many in real life

         25  are really pretty complex, and I am going to
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          2  categorize it as three main things I am going to

          3  talk about briefly: The economic issue,

          4  professional, social, and lastly the medical legal.

          5  And the economic issues, we have heard some already,

          6  but the most pressing problem that something can be

          7  done about, and in this the Harken Bill at a

          8  national level will do something to address this, is

          9  that mammography generally loses money, and it is a

         10  considerable sum. And I can, without naming names,

         11  say that these can be at the order of a million

         12  dollars at individual facilities doing this. This is

         13  not confined to medical institutions which are

         14  considered academic or teaching institutions or

         15  large hospitals, it is also true in the private

         16  sector in general. And in particular, there have

         17  been two reports recently, one was from Dieter

         18  Enzmann, who was Chairman at Northwestern University

         19  and is now Chairman of Radiology at UCLA, and he

         20  reported in a recent radiology issue that the main

         21  publication of radiologists, that mammography tends

         22  to lose money at all these facilities. There is what

         23  he calls a negative contribution margin, and what it

         24  comes to in sum is that there ain't anything you can

         25  do about it. The more mammograms you do, the more
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          2  money you lose. That's a big disincentive in -- I

          3  dislike calling medicine a business, but in the post

          4  managed care era, like it or not, it's a business,

          5  and that has negative impact.

          6                 If you think it is only confined to

          7  the large institutions, it's not true. Dr. Judy

          8  Destouet, who works in, I believe in Maryland, but I

          9  believe it is around the Washington, D.C. area,

         10  previously was the head of Washington University in

         11  St. Louis, runs a very large private practice, which

         12  is multiple facilities, 100,000 or more women get

         13  mammograms with them every year, a huge number, she

         14  reported losses of about $700,000 to $800,000. And

         15  someone has to provide this money, it doesn't come

         16  from Manhattan. So, another prominent case in point

         17  right in Manhattan is East River Imaging, which you

         18  may hear about from one of the other speakers, which

         19  has announced its intention to close July 1st, oddly

         20  enough, some of those patients at East River came

         21  out of our NYU Zuckerman practice that we had to

         22  close in late 1999, and now they have become

         23  migrants going from place to place trying to get

         24  their mammography.

         25                 Admittedly, that is not the public
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          2  sector that we are talking about here, but I do have

          3  experience because I worked yesterday at Bellevue, I

          4  will be there tomorrow and Friday. We provide

          5  services to both Bellevue and Gouverneur Hospital,

          6  and I surveyed yesterday, and we are here in the

          7  spirit of trying to address this problem. Hopefully

          8  we will come out of this crisis a little bit

          9  hardened and a little bit better. I am not meaning

         10  to cross swords with Dr. Dunn, who left here, but

         11  the fact of life is, if you call up the people who

         12  make appointments, the waiting time for screening

         13  mammography is three months in the NYU faculty

         14  practice, it's three months at Gouverneur Hospital,

         15  and oddly enough, it's one day at Bellevue Hospital

         16  right now.

         17                 The wait for a diagnostic mammography

         18  --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Just one second.

         20                 DR. SCHMIDT: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Because Bellevue

         22  is in HHC, Gouverneur is also -- you said Gouverneur

         23  is how long?

         24                 DR. SCHMIDT: Gouverneur had,

         25  according to Emma, who is the one who provided me
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          2  this information, a three-month wait for a screening

          3  mammogram right now.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

          5                 DR. SCHMIDT: I am not meaning to

          6  create an issue here.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: No, I understand.

          8                 DR. SCHMIDT: I did this survey

          9  yesterday because I knew this was an issue.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay, go ahead.

         11                 DR. SCHMIDT: The diagnostic

         12  mammography often gets more attention even than

         13  screening, because women who are regularly screened,

         14  actually a short delay in their screening doesn't

         15  make much difference to their overall care, but

         16  someone feels a lump, radiologists, all doctors, the

         17  patients themselves want a resolution to that. The

         18  diagnostic mammography waiting time are one month at

         19  Bellevue and Gouverneur, and they are two months at

         20  NYU. So, these statistics bear out the larger

         21  statistics, which you called on earlier. It's a

         22  problem which I think is going to get worse before

         23  it gets better. The economic issue is a part of it,

         24  and I have emphasized that. I have left a copy of

         25  Wall Street Journal that Dr. Gillian Nuse did, I
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          2  brought this up and brought it to national attention

          3  within the last year which partially led to the

          4  Harken Bill. I think even if we get the $90 to $100

          5  at the national level, you are going to have more

          6  problems in New York because it is more costly to do

          7  things in New York than it is elsewhere.

          8                 Secondly, --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Before you go on,

         10  because, again, in your testimony, those stats you

         11  gave me now, is that in your testimony?

         12                 DR. SCHMIDT: It is.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: So that when I

         14  look at those HHC facilities I will find those

         15  numbers in your testimony?

         16                 DR. SCHMIDT: Yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay, fine.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 DR. SCHMIDT: These are accurate to

         20  the best of my knowledge.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

         22                 DR. SCHMIDT: I called as a doctor

         23  trying to make an appointment.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

         25                 DR. SCHMIDT: On the professional
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          2  level, I mentioned before, there are not enough

          3  radiologists to read these screening mammograms to

          4  provide the services in the future. If you take the

          5  predictions, and I talked this morning to Bob Smith,

          6  who is head of Early Detection at the American

          7  Cancer Society headquarters in Atlanta, and there is

          8  an estimated additional million women per year

          9  becoming newly eligible for screening every year,

         10  and that is going to occur for the next couple of

         11  decades, so it's not something that's going to go

         12  down or go away. Even programs that provide

         13  mammography fellowships, this may sound

         14  contradictory to you, but people can come out of a

         15  mammography fellowship, that's additional training

         16  beyond your residency, beyond your medical school,

         17  you may not be exposed to screening mammography, and

         18  that's in fact the meat of what mammography is all

         19  about, to try and find cancers in people who don't

         20  think they have them and to catch those before the

         21  horse gets out of the barn.

         22                 I mentioned that the number of

         23  fellowships and applicants is going down. We happen

         24  to have two excellent fellows, I have to defend my

         25  own institution here, and we are putting our effort
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          2  in at NYU this year, but this last year we had none,

          3  and that's a crying shame. We have high volume, we

          4  have excellent teachers, and we can't attract

          5  someone to do it. We have the positions funded.

          6                 Social expectations right now are

          7  incredibly high in this business and the stress

          8  level on doctors.

          9                 Right now I just got four pages, and

         10  I am sure it's my stressed out colleague right now

         11  who is up there hanging dry. I was going to have to

         12  leave at 11:00 and I know the crises that are there.

         13  I am not going to go into them in detail, even

         14  coming here to make this testimony is a very

         15  significant difficulty for running an ordinary

         16  mammography practice.

         17                 The radiologists who have gone into

         18  this over recent times, generally want to do it a

         19  little bit, and in a little bit it's kind of like

         20  Alexander Pope said, "a little knowledge is a

         21  dangerous thing," and it doesn't meet the

         22  expectations that the public and you all want of

         23  providing excellent service.

         24                 I think that actually one thing that

         25  could be done within the purview of perhaps the HHC
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          2  is to provide a program of enhanced standards that

          3  go beyond what the federal levels do. I will be

          4  honest here that the federal levels do not address

          5  the reader. Ever since the American College of

          6  Radiology instituted mammography standards, the

          7  actual qualifications of the doctors reading the

          8  mammograms has not been directly addressed. I'm not

          9  going to go into that in detail, but there is no

         10  national standard for that, it's based all on

         11  machines and things like that.

         12                 So, the public sector may actually

         13  provide an arena for center of excellence kind of

         14  concept of producing a high quality, high-volume

         15  service. Education campaigns can be conducted

         16  through the City, through the HHC, to get both

         17  physicians and patients more aware of what the heck

         18  screening mammography is, what the heck diagnostic

         19  mammography is, what's the difference between them,

         20  what can they do, what can't they do.

         21                 I will give a couple of examples.

         22  It's a very common misconception, in New York in

         23  particular, I worked many years in Chicago, that a

         24  baseline mammogram at age 35 is a particularly

         25  useful item. It hasn't been recommended for almost
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          2  ten years by the American Cancer Society. It's an

          3  illusion, the people get it, the films are usually

          4  lost, the technology changes, the films are never

          5  available. So, that's something that doctors and

          6  patients both really need to know more.

          7                 Another thing is mammography works by

          8  looking for changes. We see a change in the

          9  mammogram, especially in an older patient, that may

         10  be a cancer. We very rarely these days get the

         11  previous mammogram. Patients are on this itinerant

         12  journey, going from place to place, trying to get

         13  their mammogram. They get an abnormal mammogram at

         14  point, they show up at another, do they bring the

         15  film, do they bring the report? No. This makes it

         16  much more expensive, much more complex, many

         17  needless biopsies are done. And this is a problem

         18  that has never been systematically attacked at the

         19  national level in this country. New York City I

         20  think has an opportunity, particularly through its

         21  public hospital, to potentially do something about

         22  that.

         23                 Lastly, and briefly, it's not the

         24  subject or the purview of this Council to deal with

         25  medical legal issues, but it is very, very real.
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          2  Failure to diagnose breast cancer has in fact been

          3  the number one medical negligence suit for the last

          4  five years, and probably the last ten years.

          5                 There are multi-million dollar suits

          6  that are settled on a frequent basis. Mammography is

          7  not perfect. Actually, my numbers are going to be a

          8  little different from other testimony, but I have

          9  data to back it up, even an expert probably can't

         10  find about ten to 15 percent of the cancer. The

         11  average person probably doesn't, or there is an

         12  oversight about 20 to 30 percent of the cancers, and

         13  guess what? Like it or not, half of us are below

         14  average. Nobody ever admits that, nobody will ever

         15  raise their hands and say, hey, I am below average,

         16  but they are there all the time, and guess what -

         17  they are doing medical service and they are reading

         18  mammograms.

         19                 I have run tests on radiologists, at

         20  courses showing them lots of films, and I have seen

         21  people who don't know actually that they are doing

         22  harm, miss up to two-thirds of the cancers that are

         23  in the screening tests. So, we have a problem that

         24  there is no standard for that.

         25                 One of the problems that happens is
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          2  people are caught with their foot in the bear trap,

          3  the medical legal hammer comes down, it's an

          4  enormous amount of money. How does this impact the

          5  system? People bail out. They don't want to do

          6  mammography because they are threatened. And,

          7  secondly, when they do do mammography, they

          8  over-read dramatically and they do lots of extra

          9  tests that are really unwarranted.

         10                 The solutions for this are obviously

         11  not going to come out of my conversation or your

         12  Council meeting today, but I think that there needs

         13  to be something done to ensure that the average

         14  confidence is high, and that it is consistent across

         15  the Board, certainly in the public health sector of

         16  New York.

         17                 So, in summarizing, I realize that

         18  this has been kind of complex introducing these

         19  issues, and I apologize for that. These are my own

         20  opinion, not those of NYU, they haven't been

         21  sanctioned through HHC, the mistypings that you see

         22  are my mistypings at 6:00 this morning when I typed

         23  this up, and the most urgent agenda, the most single

         24  thing I think that you can do that is important, is

         25  to correct the fundamental economic imbalance by
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          2  coming on board with your resolution by in fact

          3  helping to push the national effort to get increased

          4  reimbursement and address it at a national level so

          5  that we can continue to provide the literally life

          6  saving source of facilities and services to the

          7  public and improve on their quality of life and not

          8  have people dangerously waiting long for mammograms.

          9                 Thank you for your attention.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you.

         11                 Dr. Schmidt, let me ask you, because

         12  while they may be your personal notes, this is a

         13  public hearing and as Chairman of the Committee when

         14  people are brought to my attention, particularly

         15  within the HHC system, I cannot ignore it. So, I

         16  want to make sure that what I am seeing is correct.

         17                 In your testimony on page two, when

         18  you said about the waiting time for screening

         19  mammography, there are three months at NYU facility

         20  practice --

         21                 DR. SCHMIDT: Faculty, yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Faculty practice

         23  and Gouverneur Hospital, does NYU have an

         24  affiliation contract with HHC?

         25                 DR. SCHMIDT: Yes, to my knowledge.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: So, if three

          3  months at Gouverneur, and then you go on to the

          4  diagnostic, which says here one month at Bellevue

          5  and Gouverneur, with all due respect, who is

          6  supposed to provide those services at those

          7  locations? They may be HHC facilities, is that this

          8  affiliation contract?

          9                 DR. SCHMIDT: I would assume so. I am

         10  not a contractual individual, but I would assume

         11  that's in the contract, yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: What's important

         13  and incumbent upon those of us in the profession is

         14  to not just make statements, and there is a Doctors

         15  Council and there is a lot of professional groups,

         16  they should, during the course of the -- you know,

         17  this is not the first hearing, I have to tell you, I

         18  am troubled because my question is going to be, what

         19  is NYU as the affiliate doing, and if they are

         20  having problems, who are they talking to?

         21                 DR. SCHMIDT: That's a very good

         22  question, Mr. Robles.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Well, I just want

         24  to be clear, because, you know, we have cameras

         25  here, and in fairness, I want to make sure we
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          2  understand the issue.

          3                 And, so, Shiela, since unfortunately

          4  you are the only one here and not HHC, Judith, I

          5  want to make sure that we follow through, because if

          6  NYU has an affiliation with HHC, and they are

          7  supposed to provide these services and provide the

          8  means, and now if by chance HHC is not providing the

          9  equipment, then we are ready to address it. But I

         10  also need to know what the affiliation is doing in

         11  terms of the contract that they entered with HHC.

         12                 DR. SCHMIDT: Well, let me give you a

         13  snapshot of my life, there is not that many people

         14  that do this, I am one of them.

         15                 Yesterday I left Bellevue Hospital

         16  about 6:30 or 7:00, I worked all day in 95 degree

         17  heat there, in a very small room, reading screening

         18  mammograms there from Bellevue and Gouverneur

         19  Hospital. The facilities there are below what you

         20  would normally expect, not as gracious as this.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let me tell you,

         22  that is infrastructure, that is different, that's

         23  capital. I am talking about an affiliation contract

         24  that gets entered between the Corporation and the

         25  City of New York, and in this case a voluntary
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          2  hospital called NYU, and I need to know what the

          3  affiliation calls for --

          4                 DR. SCHMIDT: I don't know that.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Sir, I just want

          6  to set the record straight, because I'm a no

          7  nonsense person, and what I need to know is, you

          8  were in the room when Dr. Dunn said, if I remember

          9  correctly, in 48 hours. I didn't hear that there is

         10  a month wait for appointments. I don't think that is

         11  what I heard. Now I am hearing someone saying that

         12  at Bellevue Hospital, which is, you know, we used to

         13  be -- that was the mother ship for Woodhull Hospital

         14  and I created my own network so that we don't have

         15  to be beholden to Bellevue, but for Bellevue

         16  Hospital, for anyone in its diagnostic system, to

         17  wait a month for an appointment is not acceptable to

         18  me. That's not what HHC said this morning.

         19                 DR. SCHMIDT: I agree, and that's why

         20  I am here this morning.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Well, I want to

         22  make sure. But I also want to make sure you

         23  understand, I'm going after the affiliation, too.

         24  There is a contract.

         25                 DR. SCHMIDT: So, maybe I will work
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          2  back to Chicago if it doesn't work out.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: No, no, sir,

          4  please. I'm not trying to be cute with you, now

          5  don't you be cute with me. I have a responsibility

          6  as Chairman of this Committee, and that's where the

          7  same way I went after HHC with Staten Island, I will

          8  go after anybody, but I also want people to know

          9  that there are affiliation contracts. See, in my

         10  hospital I don't have back-up hospitals. We have our

         11  own doctors of Woodhull who created -- what do they

         12  call it, Woodhull Medical Group. You know, it's

         13  Medical Group. So, I don't have to worry about a

         14  Bellevue or a Kings County. But I just want to make

         15  sure I understand what I heard you say. I will

         16  follow up on this because this is not acceptable to

         17  me.

         18                 Council Member, this morning HHC said

         19  that they don't have long waiting lists, okay? Now I

         20  hear that at two major facilities, one Bellevue with

         21  a month, and, two, Gouverneur, three months. I want

         22  you to know that I am going to follow this up

         23  because that is not acceptable to me, but I thank

         24  you for bringing it to our attention. This is the

         25  first time I have heard this.
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          2                 DR. SCHMIDT: I think one of the

          3  issues that is very real, Mr. Robles, that you need

          4  to understand, is there is only so much personal

          5  resources available in this country. Nationally

          6  speaking, to get people to read mammograms, there

          7  are jobs crying out and empty throughout the country

          8  right now, okay?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: But, Doctor,

         10  again, I have to rely upon experts like you. You

         11  know, I became the Chairman after sitting here for

         12  17 years, and I have had to take a crash course on

         13  health issues and I became an expert, but I still

         14  yield to professionals.

         15                 I mean, if we are going to address

         16  this issue of what we are not providing, and now I

         17  am being told that in addition to the reimbursement,

         18  there is a crisis in terms of those who can provide

         19  the services professionally, so I don't care how

         20  much we talk today, we will still have the problem.

         21  My concern is that I, I am going to hold HHC

         22  accountable. I can't hold the voluntary -- see, NYU,

         23  I can't do nothing, I rely upon the state. But HHC I

         24  can do something. And, so, I need to know why we are

         25  having this problem at Bellevue and at Gouverneur.
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          2                 I also need to know, is the

          3  affiliation contract being carried out to its

          4  fullest? And, so, I thank you for bringing this to

          5  our attention, I just want to make sure that I

          6  follow through, because I don't want you to think

          7  that you made a statement and no one is paying

          8  attention.

          9                 DR. SCHMIDT: It seems like we have a

         10  discrepancy. My suggestion would be to have someone

         11  from one of your offices try to make a mammogram

         12  appointment and see what happens.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: No, no, sir, I am

         14  not questioning. I have taken what you are saying

         15  serious, and I'm going to follow through. I will get

         16  a handle on that because what you just said is a

         17  little different from what they were saying this

         18  morning.

         19                 Okay, thank you.

         20                 Council Member Quinn, and then I see

         21  Council Member Freed.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.

         23                 I just want to say I actually get my

         24  gynecological care at NYU and I can attest to the

         25  waiting list, not that I have had to actually wait
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          2  that long, it wasn't mammogram services, it was

          3  something else, but I think that the fact that I was

          4  a Council Member, which was clearly what made it so

          5  I didn't have to wait, because I got there a little

          6  early and chatted with some of the women in the

          7  waiting room and they had waited, even to get to the

          8  waiting room for longer than I had to for services.

          9                 But I wanted to ask you if you could

         10  just explain a little bit, and I am sure it is very

         11  complicated, about why the number of radiological

         12  fellowships are decreasing?

         13                 DR. SCHMIDT: Complicated, but simply

         14  put, the fellowships have generally been funded out

         15  of practice funds, faculty practice funds. Federal

         16  support for these kinds of positions has virtually

         17  totally dried up. So, basically, again, there is not

         18  money to pay the fellows' salaries.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: And had federal

         20  funding for fellowships dried up particularly as it

         21  relates to radiology or in general?

         22                 DR. SCHMIDT: In general.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: But radiology

         24  has been harder hit. It's actually part of the

         25  Harken Bill to increase slot funding by a couple of
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          2  slots per major institution, I believe, I am not

          3  aware of the details of it.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: And the

          5  decrease just in general in the number of people

          6  going into radiology, is that a result of

          7  malpractice, insurance being higher or?

          8                 DR. SCHMIDT: Actually, more an

          9  increase in demand. The demand for radiologic

         10  services keeps going up, and the number of people

         11  going into radiology has been relatively constant,

         12  so that creates a gap.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: And just one

         14  last question. When you talk about the reader of the

         15  film, the reader is a doctor?

         16                 DR. SCHMIDT: The reader is me, yes.

         17  Right now mammograms are read by doctors in this

         18  country. Other countries are facing the same crisis,

         19  and, in fact, they are going to be training the

         20  technologists in England to do the breast biopsies

         21  and they are not sure on which group but maybe the

         22  hairdressers to read the mammograms.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: And when we say

         24  there is no standard for the reader, so that could

         25  be a resident could read it or --
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          2                 DR. SCHMIDT: That's a little bit of

          3  an overstatement on my part. There is a standard.

          4  The current usual standard is to be board certified

          5  by the American Board of Radiology.

          6                 I just examined in Louisville

          7  Kentucky for accrediting people for that

          8  certification this last year. Mammography is one

          9  exam out of ten that they do there. The requirement

         10  is that you be board certified and that you have

         11  read a certain number of mammograms. The yearly

         12  requirement is 480 currently in this country.

         13                 If you go to other countries, like

         14  Bob Smith this morning mentioned Vancouver, Canada,

         15  Linda Warren Breheny running it there, the standard

         16  is to read about 5,000 mammograms per individual.

         17                 So, standards in many other countries

         18  are different from ours.

         19                 So, in 500 mammograms in a year, you

         20  would expect on the average in a screened population

         21  to find one to two cancers.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you very

         23  much.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Council Member

         25  Freed.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Thank you very

          3  much, Mr. Chair.

          4                 Yes, I am kind of appalled to hear

          5  what you were testifying about the waiting and the

          6  delays at both Bellevue and at Gouverneur. Now,

          7  Gouverneur, Bellevue and Coler Goldwater are all

          8  part of the South Manhattan network --

          9                 DR. SCHMIDT: Yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: And they are

         11  all supposed to be working together.

         12                 So, if someone has to go to an HHC

         13  hospital in that area, no matter where they turn,

         14  they are going to be faced with monumental delays.

         15  Is that pretty much --

         16                 DR. SCHMIDT: They are going to be

         17  faced with the delays that I said, to the best of my

         18  knowledge, yes. They are bordering on monumental

         19  anyway.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: What? I'm sorry.

         21                 DR. SCHMIDT: They are at least

         22  bordering on monumental.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Let me just say

         24  I send staff members, if I don't go myself, to every

         25  one of the hospital board meetings at Gouverneur,
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          2  and many of the other ones, as well, and there is no

          3  one who has been coming forward with this

          4  information. So, I am sort of appalled that I have

          5  to come to a Committee here about a bill that I was

          6  very happy to sponsor, but to find out that there

          7  are these kind of delays going on.

          8                 DR. SCHMIDT: Well, it's not that

          9  these facilities don't produce a lot of mammograms.

         10  I think one technologist had to do approximately 45

         11  mammograms yesterday at Bellevue and Gouverneur the

         12  day before. She did have the help of two students

         13  who were not completely trained, and at Gouverneur

         14  Hospital they are routinely doing close to 50

         15  screening mammograms a day, sometimes they hit 70.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: But if I may --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: So they need

         18  additional facilities.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let me tell you

         20  again my concern, and I will deal with HHC. Let me

         21  tell you what I -- and I know, because I personally

         22  go to those meetings.

         23                 There is a community advisory board

         24  made up of leaders within the community, including

         25  in Brooklyn, for example, in the hospital I
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          2  represent in North Brooklyn there are four,

          3  Community Board 1, 2, 3 and 4. There are two

          4  members; one, the chair of the Health Committee, and

          5  then there is another one called either social

          6  service or what have you. And, so, I am troubled,

          7  not by what you said, I appreciate it, don't get me

          8  wrong, because that is where if the executive

          9  director or the senior vice president of the network

         10  does not bring this up but those volunteers, those

         11  residents, who just like Kathryn and I and Chris and

         12  others, you know, people come to us and complain to

         13  us, it's disturbing to know that a major facility

         14  like Bellevue, that a whole month? And, so --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: I know, or I

         16  have sent people to the advisory board, and they

         17  have never raised this.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And, so, even if

         19  the senior vice president of the network don't

         20  report it, there's enough checks and balances within

         21  it to raise the issue. But we will follow up on

         22  this, because for me this is outrageous.

         23                 And let me also make a point. This

         24  hearing is not about trying to secure more people in

         25  slots. In particular, because like you said, it's
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          2  very complicated, a lot of mandated, but that's no

          3  excuse. They claim they have a protocol in place,

          4  which now evaluates on a quarterly basis. They

          5  should have picked that up.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Exactly.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And I asked the

          8  question of Dr. Dunn. So, I am going to follow up

          9  because now I question this protocol.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Right.

         11                 DR. SCHMIDT: Well, I think to be cast

         12  in the role of an apologist here, but if I can say

         13  something at Dr. Dunn's defense, actually I believe

         14  them to be a little bit better than they are at many

         15  other facilities throughout the country.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: If anyone raises

         17  HHC and is a champion of defending HHC is this

         18  Committee an this Chair, that's not the point.  You

         19  can't have it both ways. A public statement was

         20  made, and now the Council member who represents that

         21  area, who may not be a member of this Committee, so

         22  I didn't expect her to -- I mean, she just happened

         23  to walk in when this issue was being raised.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: I am a co-prime

         25  on the bill, but, yes, I heard you discussing it,
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          2  that's why I came over.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: But the bill

          4  didn't say that. The bill didn't say that, okay?

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: What made me ask

          7  the question was that I sat here for almost two

          8  hours, when Dr. Dunn reported on HHC. And he made

          9  certain statements. Among them I questioned about do

         10  we have waiting lists? And if you read his

         11  testimony, someone whose results are not negative --

         12  I mean, positive, within 48 hours he said, they

         13  outreached to say come in, we got the results, we

         14  want to discuss it with you.

         15                 Now, he also said someone whose

         16  result came positive, that same day he said they

         17  reach out verbally and then bring the person in.

         18  Then he talked about a protocol, that every

         19  quarterly they evaluate whether this reporting

         20  mechanism is being done.

         21                 Now, if, and I apologize for you,

         22  because I did have your testimony, and I didn't read

         23  it in depth, but if I did I would challenge Dr. Dunn

         24  this morning, when he said there isn't, and all of a

         25  sudden I will say, well, if you hang around, you are
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          2  going to have a doctor coming in to say that at

          3  Bellevue Hospital they have to wait a month before

          4  an appointment, I think that's what you said.

          5                 So, I just want to be clear on that,

          6  because I think the role we can play as a committee

          7  is checks and balances.

          8                 Council Member.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: One quick

         10  question on that.

         11                 If they have to wait that long to

         12  actually get the mammogram, how quickly do they get

         13  the results?

         14                 DR. SCHMIDT: How quickly do patients

         15  get the results. Actually, at Bellevue Hospital we

         16  dictate reports on a system that goes, to my

         17  understanding, fairly instantaneously through the

         18  information system so that physicians can see the

         19  answer.

         20                 We have a clerk who actually is the

         21  person who calls the patient to set up an

         22  appointment, it is usually, at least at Bellevue,

         23  and some of this is a little news to me I am afraid,

         24  the mammography section makes the appointment for

         25  the patient directly, not through the primary
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          2  physician.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Okay.

          4                 DR. SCHMIDT: So they usually get a

          5  phone call within a day or two days of the mammogram

          6  actually being performed, depending on when it was

          7  actually read.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: Okay.

          9                 Is that true for Gouverneur, as well?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: As a matter of

         11  fact, Council Member Freed, let me read from Dr.

         12  Dunn's statement, which I highlighted, that is why I

         13  raised my antenna.

         14                 "With respect to timely access of

         15  mammograms, HHC's average waiting time is four days.

         16  The Corporation monitors mammograms waiting time on

         17  a quarterly basis, and if any facility waiting time

         18  exceeds the Corporation's standard of eight days,

         19  the facility is expected to implement an immediate

         20  plan to reduce the waiting time."

         21                 So, it goes from four days, which

         22  automatically kicks in if it goes beyond eight, and

         23  now I am hearing that at a major facility, not only

         24  do they not meet this protocol, but they go on

         25  beyond the eight days, and that's why I raise this
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          2  issue.

          3                 DR. SCHMIDT: Let me raise one issue.

          4  It is very possible that the information that Dr.

          5  Dunn has is faulty.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Well, but he is

          7  the Senior Vice President for Medical Affairs of the

          8  Corporation, and if it's faulty, he better hold

          9  accountable who is ever reporting from these

         10  facilities, and that's my point, including those who

         11  have the affiliation contracts. That's why at my

         12  hospital I don't want any affiliation. I hold my own

         13  doctors accountable, and you know what? Either you

         14  do your job or you get rid of them.

         15                 One thing they said this morning,

         16  which I agree, it has to be a partnership, we have

         17  to work together.

         18                 Anything else Council Member Freed?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FREED: No. Thank you

         20  very much for the hearing.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay. We thank

         22  you so much, and we thank you for staying as long as

         23  you did.

         24                 DR. SCHMIDT: Thank you, and good

         25  luck.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I think Greater

          3  New York.

          4                 MS. STUARD: Good morning. I am Susan

          5  Stuard. It's the afternoon, I know. Look at us, for

          6  the time.

          7                 I am the Director of Regulatory

          8  Affairs for the Regulatory Hospital Association,

          9  which represents the interests of 175 hospitals in

         10  continuing care facilities in the greater New York

         11  area.

         12                 With me today is Doris Varlese, the

         13  Associate General Counsel for Greater New York.

         14                 I have just handed out testimony, and

         15  my intention is actually not to read the testimony

         16  but instead I would like to try to summarize its

         17  contents for the Committee.

         18                 First, I would like to thank you for

         19  the opportunity to appear before you today to

         20  discuss access to mammography. Greater New York

         21  appreciates deeply that the New York City Council

         22  Committee on Health has turned its attention to this

         23  important issue, and particularly, the resolution of

         24  today, 1724, sponsored by Council Members Robles,

         25  Quinn, Oddo, Clarke and many others.
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          2                 We view waiting times as a very

          3  serious and important issue and are really pleased

          4  to be working with the Committee on the issue.

          5                 We would also like to commend the

          6  Committee, and particularly Council Members Quinn,

          7  Robles, Oddo, Clarke and others, for their support

          8  of Resolution 1813, calling on the United States

          9  Congress to pass the Senate Bill entitled Ensure

         10  Access to Mammography Act of 2001.

         11                 We at Greater New York recognize the

         12  importance of access to mammography and

         13  reimbursement issues, and have been working with

         14  Senator Schumer on this legislation.

         15                 As noted before, the bill seeks to

         16  increase Medicare reimbursement for mammography, and

         17  also to provide additional support for the training

         18  of radiologists.

         19                 As the testimony details, New York

         20  City hospitals are facing some serious hurdles in

         21  their efforts to provide mammography.

         22                 In addition to general financial

         23  trouble, there are extenuating circumstances that

         24  put mammography at risk, and there are sort of three

         25  issues that I am going to take on today: One, poor
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          2  reimbursement rates; two, increasing patient demand;

          3  and, three, restrictive regulatory requirements that

          4  really threaten the viability of mammography

          5  programs, both in New York City and across the

          6  country.

          7                 As Council Member Robles already

          8  noted, Medicare reimburses screening mammography at

          9  $69, while New York City hospitals estimate the

         10  actual cost for the procedure to be between 100 and

         11  120. I have seen estimates up to 140 as well.

         12                 This means that mammography providers

         13  can lose up to $50 or more on every patient that

         14  walks in the door.

         15                 This is clearly a very serious issue.

         16                 And while we at Greater New York are

         17  not necessarily able to speak to exact waiting times

         18  at our member institutions, we are able to speak to

         19  generally how these institutions are trying to

         20  handle the situation.

         21                 In particular, when facing limited

         22  financial resources, many providers are really

         23  trying to prioritize diagnostic mammography, as

         24  opposed to screening mammography. And I think this

         25  is a really important distinction, as the Council
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          2  seeks to look at waiting time.

          3                 Diagnostic mammography is performed

          4  when there is reason to believe that the patient is

          5  symptomatic, that there is something wrong. Whereas

          6  screening mammography is a routine exam performed in

          7  the absence of symptoms.

          8                 In other words, our member hospitals

          9  are trying to treat symptomatic women as quickly as

         10  possible.

         11                 On the second argument, there is also

         12  reason to believe that demand for mammography

         13  services in general is increasing. In the last

         14  decade great steps have been made promoting

         15  mammography as the best tool available to diagnose

         16  breast cancer in its earliest stages. You know, but

         17  the closing of private practice mammographies, due

         18  to financial hardships, you know, East

         19  River Medical Imaging was mentioned earlier, have

         20  only increased the burden on hospital programs.

         21                 I also think this third point is also

         22  very important for the Council to consider.

         23  Regulatory requirements seriously exacerbate the

         24  issue. In particular, Greater New York is concerned

         25  about requirements sent out under MQSA, the
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          2  Mammography Quality Standards Act. This is a group

          3  that is authorized by the FDA to credit all

          4  mammography facilities.

          5                 MQSA requires that by October 2002,

          6  mammography machines be upgraded. Many machines

          7  purchased before 1995 will no longer meet MQSA

          8  requirements and must be replaced.

          9                 This comes at a cost of $80,000 to

         10  $90,000 per machine. This looming regulatory

         11  requirement threatens to decrease an already

         12  shrinking mammography capacity in New York, and

         13  across the country, it is not just limited to New

         14  York.

         15                 That's the summary of the argument. I

         16  guess in closing, Greater New York would like to

         17  thank the Committee for taking the time to hold

         18  hearings on this issue. You know, and further, we

         19  urge your continued support for Resolution 1813. An

         20  increase in Medicare reimbursement is crucial to

         21  maintaining this critical health service for women.

         22  And I would also like to let Doris Varlese make some

         23  comments before we take your questions.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Can I just say

         25  something? It's interesting that you could quote an
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          2  amount for a machine and earlier witnesses couldn't,

          3  I find that sort of interesting.

          4                 MS. VARLESE: Before I make my

          5  comments, are you referring to the questions posed

          6  to HHC regarding cost for instituting new service?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: We were

          8  searching for any idea. I mean, I understand that

          9  costs include not only the amount for the machine --

         10                 MS. VARLESE: Right.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: But it is

         12  interesting that you folks are able to provide some

         13  light on it.

         14                 MS. VARLESE: When you asked the

         15  question of HHC, I mean there are myriad, there are

         16  complex cost calculations that would need to go into

         17  answering the question of how much it costs to start

         18  a mammography service, and they might not have had

         19  the figure with regard to the particular machine off

         20  the top of their head. But we would be happy to

         21  provide what other information in that vain that we

         22  have to you, because I know you are interested in

         23  cost.

         24                 I just wanted to say a couple of

         25  things. One, thank you for being here and invited
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          2  Greater New York to testify, and it's always fun to

          3  be back here, although it still is odd, after five

          4  years, to be on the other side of the table.

          5                 This issue, as you all recognize, is

          6  very, very important to women. It's a national

          7  issue. Medicare, as you know, is a national program.

          8  Yes, it only affects some women that require

          9  mammography services, but as others this morning,

         10  this afternoon has said, as Medicare goes, so go the

         11  rest of payers, so that kind of sets the standard.

         12  And as all of us have indicated, it is much too low

         13  for providing the services.

         14                 A couple of other comments. People

         15  have focused on meetings, and how we move forward on

         16  this issue. As you all know, HHC is a member of

         17  Greater New York, we represent public, as well as

         18  voluntary hospitals. As HHC mentioned, you come to

         19  our meetings, you convene Committee meetings

         20  regularly, and, in fact, next week we have a meeting

         21  of the Greater New York Planning Committee, which I

         22  staff, and the Planning Committee deals with issues

         23  such as access to services, starting new services,

         24  certificate of need requirements which are

         25  complicated and have an impact on how members can
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          2  start new services and the regulatory requirements.

          3  So, I will be mentioning this issue, and the

          4  Committee will be discussing the issue at our

          5  meeting next week. HHC does attend our meeting of

          6  the Planning Committee and takes a very active role.

          7  So, we will continue to take up this very important

          8  issue.

          9                 With regard to certificate of need

         10  issues, a couple of comments with regard to starting

         11  new services. As I indicated, certificate of need

         12  requirements are complex, and those requirements

         13  effect when hospitals want to start services, build

         14  on their existence campus, build off-site, start

         15  clinics. So, with regard to the services in Staten

         16  Island, it is complicated in terms of starting new

         17  services.

         18                 I mean, there are many --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Whoa. Why would

         20  it be complicated? Let's start again.

         21                 MS. VARLESE: Okay.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let's start

         23  again.

         24                 Let me tell you what I am looking

         25  for.
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          2                 MS. VARLESE: Okay.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: In this modern

          4  time and age, and I know, because I have numerous,

          5  and even in the voluntary sector, one of the things

          6  that I find in health services what people are doing

          7  is going mobile vans.

          8                 MS. VARLESE: Right.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Because you can

         10  bring the service in, you don't have to -- you have

         11  to provide the staff and what have you --

         12                 MS. VARLESE: Right.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: So, what I am

         14  looking for is particularly in Staten Island, and I

         15  don't mind this coordination, and I am glad to hear

         16  that the Greater New York Hospital Association, and

         17  HHC, and, again, I am willing to work with that --

         18                 MS. VARLESE: Okay.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: It's not

         20  acceptable to me, as the Chairman of this Committee,

         21  with all due respect, that a Borough of the City of

         22  New York, not so much that whatever voluntary

         23  hospital is there, I am not questioning whether they

         24  are or they are not, they may be victims of, again,

         25  the factors that we discussed today, that it is
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          2  costing them $140, yet they are only being

          3  reimbursed $70.

          4                 MS. VARLESE: Right.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And the fact is

          6  that a debt is a debt.

          7                 MS. VARLESE: Right.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I believe that

          9  we, as a City, have an obligation, in lieu of when

         10  the private sector is not providing the service,

         11  that we as a government -- I am not going to wait

         12  upon the State, I am not going to wait upon the

         13  federal government, I believe we have an obligation

         14  to step in. And I think, folks, what sometimes we

         15  overlook -- I have been around here when we had no

         16  choice and we had to cut because we had a budget

         17  crisis. Excuse me, for the last five fiscal years,

         18  the federal government now has its budget balance,

         19  and has now money like crazy, the state, although

         20  they didn't pass it yet, they are still basking in

         21  surpluses and the City. And, so, for me, I don't

         22  think that money should be the issue.

         23                 MS. VARLESE: Okay, I understand.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: What I need to

         25  know is, even if it is a mobile unit --
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          2                 MS. VARLESE: I understand.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: So that the

          4  presence of HHC, besides Seaview, is there. I mean,

          5  I will tell you right now, the mobile unit alone, I

          6  mean I am going to go into a ceremony on the Police

          7  Department, it cost me half a million dollars. So,

          8  automatically I know how much that is going to cost.

          9                 Now, what I also need to know is,

         10  what else that we need to add, which is now the

         11  expense side.

         12                 MS. VARLESE: Right.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And that's what

         14  I'm looking for.

         15                 MS. VARLESE: Okay.

         16                 Let me just go back for a second as

         17  to why adding services is complex, even mobile

         18  units, believe it or not; and that is, as I

         19  indicated, there are certificate of need

         20  requirements imposed by the New York State

         21  Department of Health. They include, with regard to

         22  mobile mammography units, the State Department of

         23  Health changed its regulations last summer to effect

         24  clinics, and there are certain categories called

         25  part-time clinics. Mobile mammography units used to
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          2  be licensed under the part-time clinics regulations,

          3  which is simple. In some cases the members would

          4  just write a letter to the Department of Health

          5  saying we are going to put a mobile mammography unit

          6  here, you are on notice for opening on this date.

          7  That was great, people could open services whenever

          8  they wanted and it was very useful for providing

          9  access.

         10                 However, last summer the regulations

         11  changed and the State Department of Health's

         12  position is the mobile mammography units have to be

         13  licensed as what the State Department of Health

         14  calls extension clinics. Unfortunately, those

         15  requirements are a little bit complex, and they have

         16  serious construction requirements.

         17                 In addition, the State Department of

         18  Health, about a month and a half ago, announced --

         19  totally caught the industry off guard, announced

         20  that it was putting, they don't use this word, but

         21  it is, a moratorium on the reviewing application.

         22  That includes extension clinic applications, it's

         23  all primary care services. They are not approving

         24  additions of any primary care services at this

         25  point, including mobile clinics.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Well --

          3                 MS. VARLESE: On one hand they told

          4  our members they had to be -- mobile clinics had to

          5  be licensed as extension clinics. So, the members

          6  did the right thing, put in extensive clinic

          7  applications for mobile clinics. Then DOH turns

          8  around and says, we are only processing notices that

          9  were received by a certain date, not processing any

         10  more and there is a moratorium.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I am glad you

         12  said that, because you know something, there is

         13  somebody running around this state and particularly

         14  now picking up issues, because that person, he will

         15  run next year. And since the state, which is the

         16  hypocrisy of this, and since there is a need in

         17  Staten Island who has been very good to all these

         18  politicians, okay, then I suggest that these things

         19  get brought out, because we need to collectively put

         20  the pressure, because that's nonsense.

         21                 As far as I am concerned, it is not

         22  acceptable to me, forget about the Council Members

         23  from Staten Island, that in the City of New York and

         24  the Borough of Staten Island, where the need is

         25  greater, especially with Fresh Kills, that all of a
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          2  sudden all of these cockamie excuses. And I am not

          3  blaming you --

          4                 MS. VARLESE: No, no.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And we need to

          6  put it where it belongs. You can't have it both

          7  ways.

          8                 Then the state needs to come in and

          9  say there is a problem in Staten Island, you don't

         10  have the proper services, particular i.e. women and

         11  breast cancer, and then a waiver is not something

         12  that is unique, it is not the first time.

         13                 MS. VARLESE: Right, I agree.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And, so, I want

         15  to make sure, if nothing else this hearing is doing,

         16  is calling a spade a spade. And the fact is that I

         17  agree with the Councilperson, given 2001 there is no

         18  excuse why women of Staten Island, one, if it is the

         19  voluntary sector, for good reason, that perhaps may

         20  have phased down or eliminated those services; two,

         21  HHC currently provides those services, oh, if you go

         22  across the bridge --

         23                 MS. VARLESE: I understand.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES:-- Or if you take

         25  the ferry. And what I am saying is that is not
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          2  acceptable.

          3                 MS. VARLESE: I understand. I

          4  understand your concern.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay.

          6                 MS. VARLESE: Let me just make a few

          7  more points before we continue to answer your

          8  questions; and those are, with regard to the State

          9  Department of Health moratorium, they have indicated

         10  and they have put together a work group of folks

         11  that are interested in this issue, and I sit on it,

         12  and so I know at what point we are at; they plan to

         13  begin reviewing applications again in October, there

         14  is obviously going to be a backlog because they

         15  haven't been reviewing them for several months. They

         16  have agreed that they will in certain circumstances

         17  make exceptions, but pretty much things are stymied

         18  till the fall. We have been working with them, but I

         19  am glad to hear that there is concern from this

         20  Committee in that regard.

         21                 I also wanted to say that although

         22  HHC does not have any hospitals, acute care

         23  hospitals on Staten Island, as the Committee knows,

         24  there are voluntary facilities.

         25                 That's only a piece of the picture,
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          2  though. If you just look at the numbers of

          3  facilities, that's only a piece of the picture

          4  because mammographies are done in a variety of

          5  settings. Extension clinics, part-time clinics,

          6  diagnostic and treatment centers, and I don't have a

          7  list of all of those, but there are many other

          8  facilities on Staten Island.

          9                 I realize that does not address your

         10  concern with regard to access to HHC facilities, but

         11  --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Well,

         13  particularly if the issue is correct, the way I

         14  understand it, and it is not that the services are

         15  not there, the problem is that those services are

         16  being phased out because of debt.

         17                 MS. VARLESE: Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And, so, if they

         19  can't keep up with it, I don't care how many you

         20  have out there, they are not going to exist.

         21                 MS. VARLESE: Right.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: And there is

         23  where I have no choice but to turn around and say to

         24  HHC, I have no jurisdiction or control over the

         25  voluntary sector, but I sure do have it over HHC.
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          2                 MS. VARLESE: Right.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Right.

          4                 So, I want to be clear, I am not

          5  saying --

          6                 MS. VARLESE: No, I know.

          7                 And they obviously would need, and

          8  they agreed to provide you with numbers, and we can

          9  help with that as well, they would need significant

         10  funding to be able to start new services.

         11                 In addition to the construction

         12  requirements, you know, the fact that once they

         13  start they are going to lose money on every

         14  procedure unless congress passes this. There are

         15  staff issues. The other issue is, and we have been

         16  speaking about this quite a lot recently, there is a

         17  labor shortage in the health care industry,

         18  unfortunately, so it will be hard to recruit

         19  personnel, starting salaries are an issue, there is

         20  a myriad of factors that go into services like this,

         21  it is quite complex, but I am sure the Committee

         22  realizes.

         23                 We would now be happy to continue to

         24  answer your questions.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Well, I really
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          2  appreciate it, and, clearly, there is a host of

          3  reasons why, clearly monetary is one of them.

          4                 Now I find out, and which, honestly,

          5  I have no control over, is staffing. But that does

          6  not exclude us from what we are trying to do here

          7  and that is to bring this issue up front, using the

          8  mass media, this year, and I am sorry, perhaps we

          9  should have done it before the budget time, because,

         10  you see, one thing I have learned around here,

         11  whenever people talk about money, this Committee and

         12  this Council, when they felt it is a priority, we

         13  have not waited upon the federal government and the

         14  state.

         15                 I mean, right now we attempted, and I

         16  think we have done a good job of saving the 27

         17  clinics that were targeted to closing, and, so, we

         18  don't wait upon anybody.

         19                 I think my point to Council Member

         20  Oddo is, that he raised the issue, and I am ready to

         21  work with him, I agree with you, especially in

         22  Staten Island, there are influential elected

         23  officials on the state and federal level that need

         24  to aggressively, and particularly those who are the

         25  same party as the President, and the Governor, and
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          2  by the way, the Mayor, because Staten Islanders have

          3  been very good to those elected officials, i.e.,

          4  elections. And, so, I am not here to be telling them

          5  what to do, I am just simply saying as far as I am

          6  concerned, it's not acceptable to me as the Chairman

          7  of this Committee, not to have those services run by

          8  the City of New York, and we will work towards that

          9  goal, and if there is an obstacle in the way called

         10  the State of New York, Jim Oddo and company and

         11  those of that other side can be very helpful to me.

         12  So, here will be one democrat screaming, but can you

         13  imagine when a caucus of republicans of influence in

         14  a borough that has been very instrumental of

         15  electing or defeating people in election years, I

         16  think he is going to get his services. So, I look

         17  forward to working with them.

         18                 MS. VARLESE: And we look forward to

         19  working with all members of the Committee,

         20  regardless of what party affiliation they have.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay. Sure.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Doris, could you

         23  walk, again, through one more time for me about what

         24  it would take for us to start services on Staten

         25  Island?
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          2                 MS. VARLESE: Okay.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: And specifically

          4  go over again the waiver issue and how easy or how

          5  difficult is that.

          6                 MS. VARLESE: Okay. As I indicated,

          7  there are complex certificate of need requirements

          8  in order for hospitals to start any services, and in

          9  some cases expand services. They have to get

         10  approval from the State Department of Health, the

         11  regulator, and that is called Certificate of Need,

         12  nicknamed CON.

         13                 The CON process, up until last

         14  summer, required that if hospitals were starting

         15  what is called part-time clinics, all they had to do

         16  was notify the State Department of Health. It was

         17  basically a letter to the area office of the State

         18  Department of Health indicated that they already

         19  have the service on its operating certificate, but

         20  they were just starting a new site.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: At a new

         22  location.

         23                 MS. VARLESE: At a new location.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Right.

         25                 MS. VARLESE: At a new location,
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          2  informing the Department of Health as to what the

          3  service was and when it was going to start.

          4                 So, up until last summer, if an

          5  institution already was licensed to provide

          6  mammographies, all they would need to do to initiate

          7  a mobile mammography unit, was to write a letter to

          8  the State Department of Health.

          9                 Beginning last summer, the State

         10  Department of Health, I might point out, on an

         11  emergency rule-making basis, which took us by

         12  surprise, instituted requirements, which by the way,

         13  have not become final yet, in terms of our advocacy,

         14  before these regulations are final we intend to

         15  comment, and mammography was a big issue our members

         16  raised with DOH. We intend to comment on how things

         17  like mammography should be subject to a more

         18  expedited process.

         19                 So, last summer, DOH said to start

         20  part-time clinics you have to do a more extensive

         21  application, not just a letter.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Why? Why did

         23  they do that?

         24                 MS. VARLESE: Well, there were

         25  concerns about, and some of them might have been
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          2  valid, Medicaid abuses, clinics showing up and

          3  providing services at a location, saying that they

          4  were clinics but really being private physicians

          5  offices, billing issues, treating patients

          6  differently based on their payor, and valid

          7  concerns.

          8                 Our view was, well, why don't you go

          9  after the offenders, as opposed to throwing the

         10  provision of services into a real, you know, really

         11  creating a lot of confusion, a lot of issues, and

         12  springing it on people on an emergency basis.

         13                 But in any event, one thing they did

         14  was require that part-time clinics be subject to a

         15  more extensive application, which, you know, our

         16  members are prepared to follow the rules about, but

         17  the more significant piece with regards to this

         18  issue was, no longer were mobile mammography units

         19  subject to just writing a letter to DOH. There are

         20  not even subject to the more extensive part-time

         21  clinic application. They are now called extension

         22  clinics, which extension clinics are clinics that

         23  are in most circumstances real physical clinics, not

         24  just located in private physicians, have a lot of

         25  construction requirements, but more significantly,
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          2  it is a full-blown certificate of need application,

          3  and DOH, as of a month or two ago, stopped

          4  processing extension clinic applications. So, unless

          5  our members got them in by a certain date, and,

          6  again, they had no warning that DOH was going to

          7  stop processing these, so unless they got them in by

          8  a certain date, if they put in extension clinic

          9  application for a mobile mammography unit say in

         10  March, DOH isn't acting upon it. So, DOH said you

         11  have to put in an extension clinic application to

         12  start a mobile mammography unit, our members follow

         13  those rules, then they turn around and stop

         14  processing them.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: And how do we

         16  avoid this? What's the process --

         17                 MS. VARLESE: Well, as I indicated, we

         18  are working with DOH, and we appreciate that they

         19  have invited us to be part of their group, they are

         20  considering exceptions, so what I have been telling

         21  members, if they have applications in, make a case

         22  to DOH with regards to access, you know, and how you

         23  are serving a certain population, and they said they

         24  will consider exceptions, but what really needs to

         25  happen is DOH needs to start reviewing these again.
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          2  And, again, and I learned through these meetings, it

          3  was born of the concern of billing abuse by, in many

          4  cases, private physicians. So, again we say why are

          5  you stopping the industry from starting services,

          6  look at the offenders. And, again, there was no

          7  notice, so people couldn't plan appropriately.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Jim, my problem

          9  is we have to be out of here by 1:30, I have three

         10  more people that I need to call. So, make this the

         11  last.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: One last

         13  question.

         14                 You used the term significant in

         15  saying that it would take significant resources to

         16  start.

         17                 MS. VARLESE: Sure.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Can you give me

         19  -- put some digits.

         20                 MS. VARLESE: Yes, I can't do that off

         21  the top of my head, but we can certainly do some

         22  background work.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Give me a range.

         24                 MS. VARLESE: I don't know. It also

         25  depends on size, how many patients.
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          2                 MS. STUARD: I can't give you a range,

          3  I can tell you a little about what it would take.

          4                 Every mammography unit has to have a

          5  trained radiologist working with it, has to have a

          6  trained technologist, it has to purchase the

          7  equipment, it has to deal with a schilding, it has

          8  to have development facilities, it has to have

          9  really rigorous notification processes that go to

         10  patients. It is a substantial capital and operating

         11  expenditure. And we could work really specifically

         12  with you on getting you some information from our

         13  members.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: All of which HHC

         15  is doing right now in four boroughs.

         16                 MS. STUARD: Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Right.

         18                 Thank you, Mr.

         19  Chairman.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you so

         21  much, I appreciate that.

         22                 Who is next?

         23                 MS. SCIANDRA: Good afternoon,

         24  Chairman Robles, Mr. Oddo, and other members of the

         25  Council Health Committee, and other distinguished
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          2  Council members and guests. My name is Eva Sciandra,

          3  and I am Director of Breast Health in New York and

          4  New Jersey for the American Cancer Society. We

          5  appreciate being invited to testify at today's

          6  hearing on the important issue of the timely

          7  availability of mammograms at hospitals in New York

          8  City.

          9                 I am not going to belabor the

         10  statistics which other people before this group have

         11  already reviewed and which your records also showed,

         12  but let me just state that the American Cancer

         13  Society's guidelines for breast cancer screening for

         14  women 40 and over include annual mammography, annual

         15  clinical breast examination by a health care

         16  professional, a very important component of complete

         17  breast examination, and then monthly breast

         18  self-examination.

         19                 New York City's eight breast health

         20  partnerships help ensure that women in all five

         21  boroughs, regardless of income or insurance

         22  coverage, can follow these guidelines. Whereas

         23  mammograms have generally been available to women

         24  with insurance or the means to pay, uninsured and

         25  underserved women often were not screened. This
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          2  could mean that a woman would not be diagnosed until

          3  there was a medical emergency, or that she was

          4  screened when cancer was at a more advanced and less

          5  treatable stage.

          6                 These partnerships, through

          7  mammography providers and community partners, have

          8  worked to ensure that women are educated about the

          9  importance of early detection and have the means to

         10  be screened.

         11                 The Council has seen the importance

         12  of this means of community outreach on breast

         13  health, it has generously provided additional

         14  funding for the City's eight partnerships for the

         15  past three years. For this funding we are very, very

         16  grateful.

         17                 I would like to provide you with

         18  further information on the services and successes of

         19  the partnerships and our experience as a partner and

         20  lead agency with the timely availability of breast

         21  cancer screening in New York City.

         22                 The American Cancer Society serves as

         23  a coordinating agency for four breast health

         24  partnerships in Manhattan, Queens, Brooklyn and

         25  Staten Island.
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          2                 During the past three years these

          3  four partnerships have provided mammograms of

          4  clinical breast exams to more than 33,000 women who

          5  might not otherwise have been screened.

          6                 These partnerships include 24

          7  hospitals. The experience of the four partnerships

          8  has been that women have no symptoms that might

          9  indicate cancer, can expect to have an examination

         10  within four to six weeks of the date they call to

         11  make an appointment. Women experiencing any symptom

         12  can nearly always get appointments within a few

         13  days.

         14                 External factors, like heightened

         15  awareness of the importance of screening during

         16  October, Breast Cancer Awareness Month, may increase

         17  demand and cause slightly longer waits for

         18  appointments at some facilities. Rarely internal

         19  factors, such as institutional reorganization or

         20  loss of critical staff have caused longer delays,

         21  but these circumstances have tended to be short term

         22  and partnership clients can often be referred to

         23  other participating facilities.

         24                 The four breast health partnerships

         25  of which we have direct knowledge have not
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          2  experienced chronic long-term or widespread delays

          3  in scheduling mammograms for our clients.

          4                 This concludes my testimony. I am

          5  very grateful for the opportunity to present to you,

          6  and I will be happy to answer any questions that I

          7  can.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: I see no one for

          9  the purpose of questions, so I want to thank you for

         10  your patience and of course appreciate the fact for

         11  the work that you do, and we are happy that the

         12  Council has played some role in that success.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 MS. SCIANDRA: The Council has played

         15  a very large role and we are most grateful.

         16                 Thank you for this opportunity.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Good.

         18                 Agnes, and the last name is Oquendo.

         19  And then also, Frank, why don't you come up there

         20  also, because you are the last two, from the Bronx

         21  Borough President's Office. Why don't you both --

         22  why don't you just identify yourself for the record

         23  again and we will start with you and then we will

         24  move on.

         25                 MS. OQUENDO: My name is Agnes
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          2  Oquendo.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Okay. Go ahead.

          4                 MS. OQUENDO: Staten Island. I came

          5  here I guess to tell my story. I went for a routine

          6  check-up and I was due for a mammography. I called

          7  to make an appointment. The first place I called of

          8  course closed down, so I called another place and I

          9  had a three and a half month wait for an

         10  appointment. I am a runner, so when I was running

         11  down Victory Boulevard on Staten Island, I saw a new

         12  place opened up called Island Women's Medical Care,

         13  and there was a big sign outside that said "no

         14  waiting for mammographies." So, when I got home I

         15  called and I was able to get an appointment soon. I

         16  brought my films with me and the radiologist called

         17  my doctor and he told me that I had an abnormal

         18  mammography. I had the biopsy. The biopsy showed

         19  extensive ductal carcinoma in situ, and I had a

         20  mastectomy in January. I think that if I never saw

         21  that place I would have waited for my original

         22  appointment, and I had my mastectomy before my

         23  original appointment.

         24                 I just think that on Staten Island we

         25  are growing, we need more places for such an
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          2  important test as mammography. I heard people saying

          3  that women that are symptomatic, I was asymptomatic.

          4  I was just going for a routine mammography, I didn't

          5  have a lump, I don't have a family history, and look

          6  what happened to me. So, I think that there is more

          7  that needs to be done in prevention of breast cancer

          8  for women.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you so

         10  much. I appreciate that.

         11                 MR. VERNUCCIO: Good afternoon, Mr.

         12  Chairman.

         13                 On behalf of Bronx Borough President

         14  Fernando Ferrer, I am Frank Vernuccio, and due to

         15  the lateness of the hour I will simply summarize

         16  this testimony.

         17                 The Borough President has long

         18  advocated for greater availability, affordability

         19  and timeliness of mammograms. The ability for women

         20  to detect breast cancer and other health issues is

         21  dependent upon quick access to mammography. This

         22  access should be attainable not only financially,

         23  but also in a relevant time frame and an efficient

         24  manner.

         25                 Despite the importance of obtaining
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          2  this vital exam, mammograms remain inaccessible in a

          3  variety of forms. Nationwide waiting periods for

          4  mammographies have increased in over 50 percent of

          5  clinics. In New York City women are being forced to

          6  wait up to three months just to obtain a mammogram.

          7                 Many women facing these waiting

          8  periods are likely to cancel the appointment all

          9  together, against physician recommendation, and at

         10  times when babyboomers are in need of mammograms

         11  just to determine possible health risks.

         12                 Over 200,000 new cases of breast

         13  cancer are diagnosed annually in the United States.

         14  Breast cancer is the second most common form of

         15  cancer among American women and is especially lethal

         16  to African-American women.

         17                 The waiting period for mammograms can

         18  be attributed to the operating cost of the exams, as

         19  we have heard extensively today.

         20                 New York City has and is facing a

         21  decline in facilities offering mammography services.

         22                 This clearly contributes to the

         23  increased waiting times. In 1999, New York City

         24  University Medical Center was forced to close one of

         25  its two mammography services due to financial
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          2  reasons. Other smaller mammography centers have

          3  closed as well due to operating cost, along with

          4  many centers, decreasing services previously

          5  offered.

          6                 Recently, a facility in New York City

          7  that screened 20,000 women annually was forced to

          8  close due to inadequate compensation. The cost of

          9  screening and diagnostic services are barely

         10  reimbursed through Medicare.

         11                 For example, screening mammographies

         12  cost $75 to $150 with Medicare reimbursement rates

         13  set at $67. Diagnostic mammograms can cost more than

         14  $200 with reimbursement rates set at $81. Clearly

         15  inadequate.

         16                 This disparity between reimbursement

         17  rates and the cost has resulted in the closure of

         18  247 clinics nationwide since September 1999.

         19  Clearly, further investigation needs to be initiated

         20  into this issue to protect the health and increase

         21  the ability to make early detections of breast

         22  cancer.

         23                 Borough President Ferrer looks

         24  forward to working with this Committee in any way

         25  that can prove useful.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            148

          1  COMMITTEE ON HEALTH

          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Thank you very

          3  much. I appreciate the testimony. And, again, I

          4  thank you for having patience and sitting there, I

          5  saw you in the room before.

          6                 Thank you so much.

          7                 I just want to simply say that I want

          8  to thank, again, my colleague Council Member Oddo

          9  for bringing it to my attention and asking if I

         10  would put this on the calendar, the agenda. I

         11  believe that this was an issue that was long overdue

         12  to at least bring it up front to begin to let people

         13  know that this issue is not just local but rather it

         14  is nationally, that it's not an easy issue to deal

         15  with but complicated, but there are ways of dealing

         16  with this issue and still hopefully get the other

         17  players to come along and fall into this puzzle.

         18                 So, Council Member Oddo, on behalf of

         19  all of the members and the Speaker, I want to thank

         20  you for bringing this to our attention.

         21                 Council Member Oddo.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: One last thing.

         23  I just want to thank Agnes, and say that on August

         24  3rd, 2001, Agnes will be running from New York to

         25  Miami to raise money for breast cancer research, and
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          2  if anyone who is watching this on Crosswalks wants

          3  to make a donation, feel free to call my office, and

          4  I will forward that to Agnes, and I thank you, Mr.

          5  Chairman, for your cooperation today.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Let me see that,

          7  because I think one of my constituents brought it to

          8  my -- yes, okay, that's right.

          9                 I want you to know that it even got

         10  into Brooklyn. One of my constituents, it must be a

         11  friend of the family, brought all of this to me

         12  asking me to also let those who want to support and

         13  sponsor do that. So, I want you to know that it is

         14  being circulated in Brooklyn, too.

         15                 Okay, unfortunately, there is a

         16  Council session and there is a committee that we

         17  have to be out of here by 1:00. I apologize to those

         18  who perhaps may have came in late, but I have no

         19  choice but to close these hearings, and I thank

         20  everyone for the kind of hearing that this turned

         21  out to be because this issue was very important.

         22                 (Hearing concluded at 1:05 p.m.)

         23

         24

         25
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